THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Metals in MSWI fly ash

- problems or opportunities?

KARIN KARLFELDT FEDJE



Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering Division of Environmental Inorganic Chemistry Chalmers University of Technology Göteborg, Sweden 2010

Metals in MSWI fly ash

- problems or opportunities?

KARIN KARLFELDT FEDJE

ISBN 978-91-7385-386-6

© KARIN KARLFELDT FEDJE, 2010.

Doktorsavhandlingar vid Chalmers Tekniska Högskola Ny serie nr 3067 ISSN 0346-718X

Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering Environmental Inorganic Chemistry Chalmers University of Technology SE-412 96 Göteborg Sweden Telephone + 46 (0)31-772 1000

Cover: Fly ash from municipal solid waste combustion. Photo: Pär Meiling

Reproservice Göteborg, Sweden 2010

Metals in MSWI fly ash - problems or opportunities?

KARIN KARLFELDT FEDJE

Department of Chemical- and Biological Engineering Environmental Inorganic Chemistry Chalmers University of Technology

Abstract

Incineration of municipal solid waste is a commonly used management method to take care of our waste. However, the residues produced are a problem. They often contain large amounts of potentially toxic metal compounds and soluble salts, which can cause harm to the environment and human health if released from the ash. These ashes are therefore usually classified as hazardous materials and are deposited in specialized landfills. However, as society strives towards more sustainable material cycles, a larger fraction of the materials today classified as waste will, in the near future, be recycled. Since the ashes produced from waste incineration contain significant amounts of metals, they represent a possible source of these metals. Recovery of metals from waste combustion residues would thus give an opportunity to turn a waste into a valuable resource. This thesis focuses on the leaching and recovery of minor metals, such as Cu and Zn, and proposes a recovery procedure for Cu. The leaching of metal compounds from the ash is a very important step in the recovery process and several factors, such as leaching time, pH, leaching agent used and the liquid-to-solid ratio (L/S), affect the leaching properties. In some cases more or less all Cu was leached from the ash. Recovery of metals from ash leachates can be done using solvent extraction, and the results obtained showed that about 90% of the Cu in the leachates could be selectively recovered.

The ash matrix itself is highly affected by leaching, which generally increases the specific surface area and changes the particle size distribution. In landfill leaching tests the release of many ions from pre-leached ash was lower than that measured for the original ash, indicating an opportunity to utilize the resulting ash as well.

Keywords: MSW ash, leaching, metals, Cu, solvent extraction, speciation, NH₃NO₄, water, HNO₃, pH

List of publications

This thesis is mainly based on the work reported in the following papers:

I

K. Karlfeldt, B.-M. Steenari, Assessment of metal mobility in MSW incineration ashes using water as the reagent, (2007) Fuel, 86, 1983-1993

II

K. Karlfeldt Fedje, S. Rauch, P. Cho, B.-M. Steenari, *Element associations in ash from waste combustion in fluidized bed*, (2010) Waste management, in press

III

Karin Karlfeldt Fedje, Christian Ekberg, Gunnar Skarnemark, Britt-Marie Steenari, Removal of hazardous metals from MSW fly ash - An evaluation of ash leaching methods, (2010) Journal of Hazardous Materials, 173, 310-317

IV

Karin Karlfeldt Fedje, Christian Ekberg, Gunnar Skarnemark, Britt-Marie Steenari, *Recovery of Cu from MSW fly ash leachates using solvent extraction*, Submitted to the Journal of Hazardous Materials

V

K. Karlfeldt Fedje, K. Norén and B-M. Steenari, *Recovery of Cu and Zn from MSWI fly ash – influence of ash properties and metal speciation,* in manuscript

Statement of contribution

Karin Karlfeldt Fedje is responsible for the authoring and most of the laboratory work in all papers with the support of the supervisors and co-authors. However, in paper II, the LA-ICP-MS experiments and analyses were performed by Dr. Sebastien Rauch and, in paper V, the XAS experiments and analyses were done by Associate Professor Britt-Marie Steenari and Dr. Katarina Norén.

Related publications not included in the thesis

a) Speciation of Cu compounds in ashes from MSW incineration Karlfeldt, Karin; Lundin, Lisa; Clausén, Maria; Steenari, Britt-Marie Swedish-Finnish Flame Days 2005, ISBN/ISSN: 91-7178-185-4

b) Tvättad aska första steg mot återvinning.

Karlfeldt, Karin: Avfall och Miljö, 2007, (5) pp. 28.

c) Addition of kaolin as a potassium sorbent in the combustion of wood fuel effects on leaching of metals from the resulting fly ash.

Karlfeldt, Karin; Steenari, Britt-Marie: 4th Biennial Meeting of the Scandinavian-Nordic Section of the Combustion Institute hosted by Åbo Akademi, November 5-6 2007

d) Addition of kaolin as potassium sorbent in the combustion of wood fuel - effects on fly ash properties Steenari, B-M., Karlfeldt Fedje, K., (2010) Fuel, Article in press

e) Incineration of Municipal Solid Waste - Possibilities and Challenges
Karlfeldt, Karin
Proposal to the ENERGY FORUM BEST STUDENT PAPER AWARDS
COMPETITION, at the Energy - Climate - Technology (ECT) Conference in
Bergen, 17 - 18 April, 2008

f) CAMPUS GREENING AT CHALMERS UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY,

Karlfeldt, Karin; Kjällstrand, Jennica, Presented at the 5th EMSU Conference, Environmental Management for Sustainable Universities. Barcelona, Spain, 15-17 October 2008

Table of contents

1. Introduction	
2. Aim of the thesis	5
3. Background	7
Combustion techniques	10
Mass burn combustors	10
Fluidised bed combustors	10
Ash from MSW incineration	
Methods to decrease metal species leaching from ash	14
Utilization of MSWI ash	
Production of copper	
Solvent extraction of Cu	
4. Experimental	
Ash samples	
5. Summary and discussion of results in Papers I-V	
Characterization of ash	
Distribution of metals	
Leaching	43
Water as leaching agent	
Leaching for metal recovery	49
Recovery of Cu from ash leachates	56
Ammonium nitrate leachates	56
Acidic leachates	60
Changes in ash matrix during leaching and ash stability	63
Land fill leaching test for evaluation of ash stability	69
6. Conclusions	
7. Continuation of the work	77
8. Acknowledgments	79
9. References	81

1. Introduction

Waste that is created in households and small enterprises is generally managed through recycling of materials, incineration or landfilling. While landfilling is the most commonly used management method, incineration is increasing both in Sweden and in other countries in Europe [1, 2]. This leads to the production of significant amounts of ashes which, in turn, must be handled in ways that ensure that there are no negative effects on the environment or human health. Today this mainly means landfilling in appropriate landfilling sites. However, as society strives towards more sustainable material cycles, a larger fraction of the materials currently classified as waste will be recycled in the near future. Since the ashes produced from waste incineration contain significant amounts of metal compounds they represent a possible source of metals. Recovery of metals from waste combustion residues would thus give an opportunity to turn waste into a valuable resource. This thesis has focused on the minor and trace metals in ashes from municipal solid waste incineration (MSWI) in order to contribute to a better knowledge of their chemical context, their leaching properties and potential methods of recovery to answer the question: "Metals in MSWI fly ash- problems or opportunities?"

2. Aim of the thesis

The aim of this work was to contribute with new knowledge and a better understanding of the binding and leaching of metals in MSWI fly ash. The recovery and recycling of Cu from MSWI fly ash has also been studied with the aim to stimulate the utilization of ash.

This thesis is based on five publications. The first paper, Paper I, focuses on how variations in leaching parameters, such as liquid-to-solid-ratio (L/S), influence the amounts of metal ions detected in a leachate created from water leaching of cyclone ash from a fluidised bed boiler. The second paper, Paper II, describes an investigation of associations between major and minor elements in single cyclone ash particles. The third paper, Paper III, discusses leaching from a fluidised bed combustion filter ash using both water and other leaching agents. Paper IV discusses the development and evaluation of a selective solvent extraction method for the recovery of Cu from MSW filter ash. The last paper, Paper V, focuses on elucidating reasons for differences in the leachability of Cu and Zn in filter ashes from different waste incineration techniques.

3. Background

Solid waste generated by households is an important part of what is called municipal solid waste (MSW). However, depending on national waste management systems, the definition of MSW differs between countries [1]. The Swedish definition includes hazardous waste and yard waste in addition to normal mixed waste from households. It also includes waste similar to MSW in its composition, from offices, retail shops and schools [3]. The composition of MSW varies from place to place and over time in the same area. Naturally, cultural factors, such as the lifestyle of the population, its relative standards of living, general consumer patterns and the level of technological advancement in the specific country also influence what is included in MSW [4]. Some indications of the compositions of municipal solid waste streams in different areas are given in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1. General composition of MSW in EU-22, Sweden, the USA and the Philippines displayed as w%. [4-7]. Hazardous waste is not included.

Kind of waste	EU-22	Sweden	USA	Philippines
Organic waste incl. yard waste	7 – 52	45-55	23	45
Paper and wood	9 – 44	20-29	43	20
Plastic	2 – 15	9-11	11	23
Glass	2 – 12	1-3	6	1
Metal	2 – 8	2-4	8	4
Others	7 – 63	7-15	10	6

Approximately 4 700 000 tonnes, more than 500 kg/capita, of MSW was generated in Sweden in 2008 [2]. This is an increase of more than 100 kg/capita since 1995 [1]. A similar increase in amounts of MSW has been observed in the countries included in EU-27: from 474kg/capita in 1995 to 517kg/capita in 2006 [1, 8]. The statistics available for the USA are somewhat older, but show a similar development: an increase in MSW from 450kg/capita in 1960 to 760kg/capita in 1999 [4]. As the definition of MSW differs between countries, the numbers given here are not exactly comparable. The trend of increased waste production is evident, however.

Figure 3.1 shows statistics on the percentages of solid waste that go to recovery, incineration and landfill in the countries in EU-27 [8]. Clearly, these countries make different choices about how to deal with waste management. Sweden has one of the highest fractions of waste that is incinerated (about 15%), whereas the average is

about 5%. Other examples of differences in waste management are Japan, incinerating more than 70% of the solid waste, and the USA, where more than 84% of the solid waste is landfilled [4]. The waste volumes in the statistics used by Kloek and Blumenthal include waste from households (7%) as well as waste from industries and businesses [8]. Other statistics on the management of MSW in Sweden show that almost 50% of the MSW was incinerated in 2008 [2]. Unfortunately it has not been possible to find corresponding statistics for other countries due to different definitions of and regulations for MSW.



Figure 3.1. Types of waste treatment in 2006 in EU-27 [8]. Reprinted with the permission of © European Communities, 1995 – 2009.

Landfilling is a common treatment method for municipal waste but its use has decreased strongly in EU-27 during the last decade (~60% landfilled in 1995 compared to ~40% in 2006) [1]. In Sweden, only 5% of the MSW was landfilled in 2006 as compared to 35% in 1995 [1, 2]. This decrease is mainly due to new legislation stating that material recovery and incineration should be favoured over landfilling [3, 9]. Incineration offers some significant advantages over landfilling, such as a volume reduction of up to 90%, a mass reduction of up to 75% and recovery of the energy content in the waste, in addition to destruction of micro organisms and toxic organic compounds [4, 10].

Combustible waste is defined as waste that is combustible without any heat supply after the incineration process has started [11]. This generally corresponds to a heating

value of at least 6-8 MJ/kg waste [5, 12]. According to calculations made by Reimann for 97 waste-to-energy plants in Europe in 2006, the average heating value for MSW is about 10 MJ/kg [13]. A similar value is obtained for the US [4]. Thus, the energy content in MSW is significant, even though it is lower than that of other commercial fuels (Table 3.2).

Fuel	Average heating value, MJ/kg	CO ₂ -factor, g/MJ fossil fuel
MSW	10 ¹	25 ²
Bio fuel	18 ³	0*
Coal	274	935
Natural gas	40 ⁴	57 ⁵
Crude oil	404,+	74-78 ⁵

Table 3.2. Technical data for some fuels ${}^{1}[13]^{, 2}[14], {}^{3}[15], {}^{4}[16]$ and ${}^{5}[17]$.

*The carbon dioxide emissions from bio fuels are presupposed to be a part of the natural ecological cycle. $^+Approximate value, \delta=900 kg/m^3$

According to calculations made by the Swedish Waste Management Association, MSW is composed of 85 percent biomass and 15 percent fossil fuel [14]. On the basis of these numbers, the average CO_2 emissions from MSW incineration are 25g/MJ fossil fuel (Table 3.2). This is much lower than for several other commercial fuels and favourable, since increased emissions of carbon dioxide to the atmosphere are assumed to strongly affect the world's climate.

One reason why such a high percentage of MSW goes to incineration in Sweden compared to the situation in other countries in Europe and worldwide is that the heat produced can be effectively utilised in the widely spread district heating system. A similarly extensive district heating system is not present in many other countries. In 2006 about 20% of the total energy demand for district heating in Sweden was supplied by heat from waste incineration [18]. There were 29 incineration plants for MSW and industrial waste in use in Sweden in 2008 and more waste combustion facilities are presently being designed and constructed [2]. All of these combustion facilities are designed for energy recovery through the production of hot water for the district heating net and in some cases also for electricity production. Approximately 4.6 Mtonnes of waste, of which half was MSW, was incinerated with energy recovery in Sweden in 2008, giving 14 TWh, which corresponds to the annual

electricity demand of almost 250 000 average sized houses and heating of more than 800 000 detached houses [2].

Combustion techniques

The type of combustion unit most commonly used for combustion of waste uses the mass burn (MB) technique, but fluidised bed combustion (FBC) has become an alternative during recent decades. These incineration techniques have been described in great detail by others and are therefore described only briefly here. More thorough information can be found in [4, 19].

Mass burn combustors

In a mass burn (MB) combustor, the fuel is fed on a moving or tilting grate, through which air in excess is blown to achieve efficient combustion. The combustion temperature is usually above 1000°C. MB combustion has the advantages that it is a simple, robust and thoroughly tested technique for waste incineration and that there is only a minimal need for pre-sorting and size reduction of the waste.

Fluidised bed combustors

The combustion in a fluidised bed boiler is carried out in a bed of inert material, usually quartz sand. The sand effectively distributes the heat to the water tubes, which makes it possible to maintain a low combustion temperature, i.e. about 850°C. The formation of nitrogen oxides (NO_x) is thus minimised since oxidation of the nitrogen in the air supplied for combustion is decreased. Variations in fuel properties, such as moisture content and heating value, have less influence on the combustion than in MB combustors. However, the fluidised bed combustion technique requires a size reduction and pre-sorting of the waste. A schematic picture of a bubbling fluidised bed (BFB) combustor is shown in Figure 3.2.



Figure 3.2. Schematic picture of a bubbling fluidised bed combustor. Printed with the permission of [20].

Ash from MSW incineration

Bottom ash is the major ash fraction produced from incineration of MSW [19]. It consists of minerals with high melting points, metal pieces, sand and glassy slag lumps and is, as the name suggests, collected at the bottom of the combustion chambers. The ash particles that are small enough to follow the flue gas are collected in the flue gas cleaning devices, and this ash flow is called fly ash. A summary of composition data for a large number of MSW fired combustion units is shown in Table 3.3 [19]. These data show that the fly ash is generally enriched in certain metals (As, Cd, Hg, Pb, Sb and Zn). These metals are all volatile as such or in the form of volatile metal chlorides. The content of chlorine (mainly chloride) in an average fly ash is in the order of 10w%, which illustrates the importance of chlorine in the formation of the fly ash (Table 3.3). Bottom ash may contain significant amounts of some potentially toxic metals, such as Cr, Cu, Ni and Pb. However, as seen in Table 3.3, there are broad composition ranges for both bottom ash and fly ash, which indicates the complex processes involved in the combustion and large variations between combustion sites and fuels.

Table 3.3. Contents of major and minor components in bottom and fly ashes from MSW combustion from various incineration techniques and countries [19]. All amounts are present as mg/kg ash.

Element	Bottom ash	Fly ash
AI	22000-73000	49000–90000
Са	370–123000	74000–130000
Fe	4100-150000	12000-44000
К	750–16000	22000-62000
Mg	400–26000	11000–19000
Na	2800-42000	15000–57000
Si	91000-308000	95000-210000
CI	800–4200	29000-210000
S	1000–5000	11000-45000
As	0.1–190	37–320
Ва	400–3000	330–3100
Cd	0.3–70	50–450
Cr	23–3200	140–1100
Cu	190–8200	600–3200
Hg	0.02–8	0.7–30
Mn	80–2400	800–1900
Мо	2–280	15–150
Ni	7–4200	60–260
Pb	100–13700	5300-26000
Sb	10–430	260–1100
V	20–120	29–150
Zn	610–7800	9000–70000

A great amount of research work has been done to show the metal partitioning in combustion, i.e. how the metals are distributed in bottom ash and fly ash. As discussed, chloride forming elements, such as Cd and Pb, are generally enriched in fly ash, whereas oxide forming elements, such as Al and Si, remain in the bottom ash. The partitioning of metals in different ash flows is the final result of a large number of physical and chemical processes occurring inside the combustion unit. The extent of volatilization of metal compounds depends not only on the temperature but also on the gas composition. Thermodynamic equilibrium calculations and measurements show that high concentrations of chlorine compounds such as HCl and a reducing atmosphere increase the volatility of metals (especially Cd, Pb, Cu and Zn) while the presence of sulphur can reduce the volatility [21-26]. The enrichment of these elements in the fly ash is due to condensation of their volatile compounds onto small particles already present in the flue gas. The gaseous metal species may

also condense directly when the flue gas is cooled and form condensation kernels for other volatile species. Both processes lead to an inverse proportionality between the particle diameter and the concentration of metals in ash particles. Data that show such proportionality have been reported by several groups [21, 26-28]. However, published data on the distribution of elements also show differences between ash samples. Lead is generally enriched in small particles regardless of the fuel and incineration technique used, whereas the distribution of As and Cd is somewhat less predictable [29-32].

Depending on whether the metal compound condensed on a fly ash particle or formed the kernel of a new particle, the metal in question will end up either on the fly ash particle surface or be enclosed inside a particle. Using synchrotron based Xray fluorescence spectroscopy, Camerani-Pinzani and co-workers found that some metals, e.g. Cd and Pb, were mainly present inside fly ash particles, while Zn was present both in the particle interior and on the surfaces [33]. In the work of Fujimori and co-workers on industrial waste incineration fly ash Cd, Cu, Mo and Zn were found to be enriched on particle surfaces as acid soluble compounds, while Co, Mn, Ni and Pb were found both inside the particles and on the surfaces [34]. In work done by Ramesh and Kosinsky, the amounts of Cd and Pb were found to decrease on the surfaces and increase towards the centre of a simulated waste ash pellet during solidification (1000°C-25 °C) [35]. The mechanism suggested was that Cd and Pb occupy the oxygen vacancies in mullite (3Al₂O_{3*}2SiO₂) or form stable compounds with the aluminosilicate matrix. However, the role of volatilisation was not studied. An increased understanding of the mechanisms affecting these distributions of metal compounds would be very valuable since they are important for the ash properties. One example is the release of metal ions from ash to a leachate where the location of the metal compound is important for the result. Encapsulation of metal species inside particles probably significantly decreases their leachability.

Data are available that indicate that the ash matrix may influence the distribution of volatile metals and lead to significant variations in metal concentration over the ash particle [36, 37]. Calcium and Fe have been indicated to be associated with metals such as Cd, Cr, Pb and Zn in MSW ash particles, and Cd, Cu and Pb were found to

be enriched in biomass ash particles rich in quartz [37-40]. The affinity of certain volatile metal species for certain minerals has been investigated with the aim of using the minerals as sorbents for toxic metals and metal species that otherwise cause fouling and corrosion [41-45]. Limestone, silica, alumina, bauxite and various aluminium silicates, such as kaolin, have been suggested and studied. Kaolin has been shown to absorb K, Na and Zn [44, 46, 47] and to adsorb Cd, Cu, Pb and Sb and thereby decrease their volatility [43, 45, 48].

The discussion above indicates that although trace elements are generally enriched on, or in, small particles, the properties of the individual metals, as well as parameters specific to each incineration situation, are important for the mechanisms by which the trace metal species are distributed on ash particles. In addition, MSW is a very heterogeneous fuel since the composition of the waste can vary considerably. A recently published work on MSW fuel characterisation shows that its content of non-metals, such as C, H and N, varies little on an annual basis, whereas the concentrations of Na, K and Cl, as well as trace elements, such as Cu, Pb and Zn, show larger variations [49].

Methods to decrease metal species leaching from ash

There has been an extensive amount of work done in developing methods to decrease the release of metal compounds from deposited ash. One option would be to actually remove the metals from the ash, which can be done by magnetic or eddy current separation if the metal is present in metallic form. Magnetic recovery of iron alloys is used for MSWI bottom ashes but is usually not used for fly ashes [19, 50].

Thermal treatment of MSWI ash, e.g. vitrification, melting or sintering, has been suggested as a method to encapsulate metal species in the ash matrix. The result is a more stable and volume reduced ash product, where the remaining metals have been bound into the matrix of oxides and silicates, thus making them less available for leaching [10, 24, 28]. However, depending on the parameters used during the heat treatment, part of the metals forming volatile compounds can be released from the ash. As much as 100% of the Cd, Cu and Pb initially present in ash, as well as 50% of the Zn, has been reported to evaporate at temperatures around 1000°C [51]. A

review of thermal treatment processes for MSWI ash concluded that the release of volatile metals, e.g. Cd, Pb and Zn, increased in a reducing environment compared to an oxidizing environment because of a reduction to metallic forms that are more volatile than the oxides present in an oxidizing environment [24]. The presence of HCl also increases volatilization due to a formation of volatile metal chlorides. Results of heat treatment experiments have shown that less than 5 % of the initial amounts of each metal (Cd, Hg, Pb and Zn) remain in the ash after treatment in a reducing atmosphere. After heat treatment with an addition of HCl, less than 2% of the studied metals remained in the ash, whereas heating in an oxidizing environment led to much higher retaining of the metals [24]. A disadvantage of thermal treatment is the high energy consumption, which makes the process costly [10, 24]. In addition, it generates a metal laden flue gas that must be cleaned and this cleaning, in turn generating a new particulate waste with high metal concentrations. Thermal treatment of MSWI ash is used at several plants in Japan, but it is not common in commercial plants in Europe and the USA [24].

One common way to solidify/stabilize ash is to mix it with cement and water, which results in agglomeration of the material. Solidification has been shown to give a decrease in leaching of metals and sulphates, but the chlorides are almost as easily released from the solidified ash as from untreated ash [10, 52].

Carbonation of moistened MSWI ash has been found to decrease the leaching of some metals, although it has been reported to give enhanced leaching in the case of other metals. Several groups have reported decreased leaching of Cu, Pb and Zn and an increased leachability of Cr [53-56]. The effects of carbonation on the mobility of Cd are less certain since both a decrease and an increase in leaching after carbonation have been reported [55, 56]. The decreased leaching of metal compounds is probably due to formation of calcite (CaCO₃), which buffers and keeps an alkaline pH in the ash but the carbonation and leaching mechanisms are not totally understood [53]. Calcite in an aqueous environment is involved in a dynamic dissolution and reprecipitation process, which means that the surface of the calcite crystals is continuously reproduced. Co-precipitation of other metal carbonates on calcite, as well as an incorporation of other metal ions, such as Cd²⁺ and Zn²⁺, replacing

calcium ions in the calcite structure, is known to occur [57-60]. Mixed mineral phases and solid solutions such as these generally get a lower solubility of the minor element than the corresponding pure minerals [61, 62]. Sorption of metal ions onto other mineral surfaces, such as Al and Fe (hydr)oxides, is also common and will further decrease the leaching of a number of metal ions, e.g. Pb, Cd, Zn and Cu, from ash [10, 55, 63]. Such processes, in addition to the pH buffering effect of calcite and the formation of ash particle aggregates induced by the carbonation reactions, lead to retaining of the metal ions in the solid phase.

If the aggregation and stabilization by adding water to the ash does not sufficiently decrease the leaching of metal ions, an addition of chemical reagents such as phosphates or sulphides can be used to transform the soluble metal ions to insoluble or less soluble forms and thus immobilise them in the ash aggregates [19, 64-66].

A disadvantage of solidification/stabilisation is that, as the metals are still present in the ash after treatment, there is a risk that they can be released in a long term perspective. Removal of the toxic species from the ash would therefore make the quality of the ash better.

A very common way to release metals from ash is through wet treatment, i.e. leaching. Metals forming readily soluble compounds such as NaCl or KCl are released from ash more or less independently of pH, whereas the solubility of many other metal compounds from ash is strongly affected by pH. As MSWI ash is alkaline, a leaching with water or slightly acidic water generally results in a high pH of the leachates and a low release of metal compounds [34, 64, 67-71]. Many metals form soluble cations at low pH but amphoteric metals such as Cu, Pb and Zn not only form cations at acidic pH but also form soluble hydroxides at alkaline pH; they are therefore released both at low and high pH (Figure 3.3) [10, 19]. Another leaching pattern can be identified for metals forming oxyanions at low pH. Typical examples are Cr and Mo (Figure 3.3). Metals with this behaviour are strong Lewis acids, e.g. strong electron acceptors, and react with the oxygen in water to form complexes such as [CrO₄]²⁻ och [MnO₄]⁻. It is generally possible to identify pH regions where the

leaching of specific metals is at minimum or maximum based on such equilibrium considerations as given in Figure 3.3.

Species	Metals	Leachability vs. pH
Cation-forming and non-amphoteric elements Leaching is approximately constant at pH > 8	Ca	g/LpH
Amphoteric elements Minimum leaching around pH 7	Al, Cd, Co, Cu, Ni, Pb, Zn	g/L pH
Oxyanion-forming elements Leaching decreses at pH > 10	As, B, Cr, Mn, Mo, Sb, V	g/LpH

Figure 3.3. The influence of pH on the leaching of certain metals from MSWI ashes. Based on [10, 19].

However, the release of metals in real ash-water systems is not only affected by pH but also includes competitions between several chemical equilibria. The most important factors, except for pH, that influence the leaching rates are: the ash particle size, the mineralogy of the ash, the chemical speciation of the metals, the red-ox potential in the ash-leachate mixture, the liquid-to-solid-ratio (L/S) and the presence of complex forming ligands in the leaching liquid (Figure 3.4) [10, 19, 50, 72, 73]. Complex formation generally increases the leached amounts while sorption processes lead to a decreased release. Mineralogical changes in the ash matrix, such as carbonation, as well as red-ox reactions, can lead to both increased and decreased leaching. An example is the reduction of Cr(VI) to Cr(III), which results in lower release of Cr as Cr(III) species are less soluble than Cr(VI) [74].



Increasing pH

Figure 3.4. Chemical processes increasing or decreasing the release of metal compounds. Based on [75].

Enhanced leaching to release metal compounds from ash can be carried out using different leaching agents. The probably most widespread leaching method is acidic leaching using strong mineral acids, as many metal compounds have high solubility at low pH (Figure 3.3) [76-80]. Several groups have used such acids in their experiments on MSWI ash (HCl, HNO₃ and H₂SO₄ at pH \leq 4) and shown variable, but in most cases significant, release of Cu (7-100%), Pb (30-60%) and Zn (22-80%) [66, 81, 82]. The variability in the results of leaching may be caused by variations in ash properties, i.e. the ashes came from different combustors with differences in fuel composition and combustion parameters. A disadvantage of methods that employ acid leaching is that the alkalinity of the ash leads to a large consumption of acid.

Leaching media based on complex forming ligands, such as ethylene diamine tetraacetate (EDTA), nitrilo triacetic acid (NTA) and diethylene triamine pentaacetate (DTPA), have been used to reduce the impact of hazardous metals in MSWI ash by removing these metals as cations bound to the ligands. Treatment with EDTA or DTPA resulted in a removal of 20–50% of Cr, 40-95% of Cu and 40–100% of Zn [81, 83]. The removal of Pb was successful (60–100%) with the use of EDTA and DTPA but not as effective using NTA (<10 % of Pb removed), possibly due to a

formation and re-adsorption of $Pb(NTA)_2^{4-}$ [66, 81, 84]. Organic acids are also known to form complexes with many metal ions. The release of Cu from MSWI bottom ash due to a formation of organo-copper complexes has been noted earlier, and the dissolved organic matter (DOM) has especially been shown to bind Cu in solution [85, 86]. Organic acid leaching generally result in a lower release of metal compounds compared to inorganic acid leaching [82, 83].

Another possible ash cleaning method that is also based on a treatment in aqueous media is electrodialytic remediation, which has been used to remove Zn (66%), Cd (78%), Cu (34%) and Pb (26%) from fly ash. The stability of the remaining ash is stated to be significantly improved by the treatment [87].

As discussed above, the leaching of metal compounds from ash is highly influenced by several physical and chemical factors such as pH, L/S and availability of ligands. However, the most important factor is probably the speciation of the metals, i.e. the chemical association forms or compounds of the metals present in the ash. Thus knowledge of the metal speciation in ash is needed. There are different methods that can be used to examine the speciation of metals in solid materials, such as theoretical equilibrium modelling [76], sequential extraction [88-90] and spectroscopic techniques such as X-ray absorption spectroscopy (XAS) and X-ray photoelectron (XPS) spectroscopy [36, 91-93].

Using sequential extraction methods is probably the most common way to examine the chemical association forms of metals in soil and sediment samples and granular waste such as ash. However, problems have been reported that are associated with these methods. It has been noted, for example, that different speciation results are obtained when different sequential extraction protocols are used [94-96]. On the other hand, the spectroscopic methods generally require expensive and advanced instruments, which is why their use has this far been limited. However, XAS methods have advantages over sequential extraction methods, such as a limited need of sample preparation, element specific analysis and low detection limits. Analysis of Cd (<100 ppm) in ash using XAS has been reported [36, 39]. Chemical characterization of Cd in MSW ash using XAS shows that Cd is mainly present as

CdSO₄, CdO and CdCl₂ [36]. Copper has been suggested to be present mainly as CuO, Cu(OH)₂ and CuSO₄·XH₂O [97-99]. CuCl₂ is usually present in low amounts, but CuCl₂ has been shown to be enriched on the surfaces of filter ash particles [99]. This is suggested to be due to condensation of CuCl₂ on the ash particles when the temperature in the flue gas channel decreases. Zinc was found to be present mainly as oxidic minerals, such as silicates and oxides, in a study by Steenari and Norén, whereas ZnCl₂, Zn(OH)₂·2ZnCO₃·XH₂O, ZnSO₄·7H₂O and ZnCl₂ were identified as the major Zn compounds in a study by Yu and co-workers [100, 101]. The differences in speciation may be due to the different incineration techniques used.

Utilization of MSWI ash

Filter ash from MSW incineration is generally not used because of the high content of potentially toxic metals and soluble chlorides, while bottom ash has been tested as construction materials in roads [102, 103]. In a study by Ferreira and co-workers, possible applications for MSWI fly ash such as construction materials and soil amendment were identified and discussed [104]. The acceptance of using MSWI fly ash is generally limited, and the most important environmental risk is leaching of metal compounds and chlorides from the ash in the resulting product. Nevertheless, fly ashes mixed with sewage sludge have been used as a part of the liner in the closure of landfills [105]. Swedish regulations controlling the use of waste in constructions were recently changed, which can affect the further utilization of MSWI ash [106].

As discussed earlier, minimization of the toxic species in ash would make the quality of the ash better, which could lead to new fields of application. Recycling specific components in fly ash is generally not done today because it is expensive, but the von Roll company has shown that it is possible to extract Zn from MSWI filter ash and run a profitable plant [107, 108]. Zinc is won by acid leaching and solvent extraction followed by electrolysis. Attempts have also been made to recover metals (e.g. V, Ga. Ge and Al) from oil and coal ashes [109]. As an example, coal fly ash was sintered in the presence of CaO to decompose the silicate phases in the ash. The resulting ash was then treated with H_2SO_4 and resulted in the release of 85% Al. The leachate was thereafter purified from impurities through solvent extraction, and pure alumina (>99%) was finally recovered [110]. Jung and co-workers reported CO_2 bubbling during water leaching of melted fly ash to enhance the release of Cl, Na, K and Ca. This resulted in an ash fraction with a higher relative content of valuable metals such as Cu, Pb and Zn, which can be used for metal recovery in nonferrous smelting processes [111].

Production of copper

Copper is mainly present as $CuFeS_2$ and Cu_5FeS_4 in ores, and the content of Cu in the ores generally varies between 0.5-2% [112]. The most common way to produce copper metal is through thermal treatment, and production of pure Cu is thus a highly energy demanding process [112]. Thermal treatment includes smelting, conversion of the copper mineral into Cu metal and electrolysis to achieve pure Cu metal. However, due to the low amount of Cu in the ores, smelting cannot be done economically without enrichment of Cu. This is usually done through selective froth floatation. The raw material is crushed (10-100µm), wetted and mixed with special reagents such as xanthates (ROC(=S)SR'). Those reagents react with the Cu minerals thus making the surfaces of the Cu minerals hydrophobic. This enhances floatation of the Cu minerals when bubbling air is forced through the mixture. Non-copper minerals are not attached to those reagents, which results in a separation and enrichment of Cu minerals (~30% Cu) [112]. Another way to produce pure Cu is through hydrometallurgical processes, i.e. leaching. Production of Cu using hydrometallurgical processes has been limited but has increased markedly in recent decades [112, 113]. Dilute sulphuric acid is by far the most commercially used leaching agent, and the copper can be recovered from the produced leachate through solvent extraction followed by electrolysis [112-114]. The highly refined Cu metal achieved after electrolysis can be used for electronic and mechanical use and typically contains less than 20 ppm of impurities [112]. Alternatively, the product could be a copper salt such as CuSO₄. Annually, two million tonnes of Cu are recovered through hydrometallurgical processes, which corresponds to nearly 20% of the global production of Cu [113, 115]. An advantage in using leaching compared to thermal treatment is that the Cu ore can be leached directly without enrichment and the acid used for leaching can be recyled [112, 116]. Recovery of Cu through solvent extraction is discussed in detail in the following section.

Solvent extraction of Cu

Solvent extraction is widely used to separate metal ions in solutions. The method is based on the distribution of species between two immiscible phases, generally a water phase and an organic phase. The metal species of interest is usually present in the water phase and is transferred to the organic phase using an extractant dissolved in the organic phase. The distribution of the metal between the two immiscible liquids can be described by the distribution ratio (D_M) of the metal species between the phases and is defined as

$$D_M = \frac{[M]_{t,org}}{[M]_{t,aq}} \qquad [eq. 1]$$

where $[M]_{t,org}$ and $[M]_{t,aq}$ refer to the total amounts of all speciess containing the metal M in the organic phase and in the water phase. As seen in eq. 1, the higher the D value, the higher the concentration of the metal species in the organic phase compared to the water phase. The D value depends on several factors, such as the pH of the water phase and the concentration of the extractant in the organic phase.

The metal of interest is usually present in the water phase together with other metal species. Therefore it is not only a high D ratio for the metal of interest that is important but also a good separation from other metals. This means that the extractant should have high selectivity for the metal of interest and transfer it to the organic phase, while leaving the other metal species in the water phase.

The separation factor $(SF_{o/a})$ between two metal species $(m_1 \text{ and } m_2)$ is defined as

$$SF_{m1/m2} = \frac{D_{m1}}{D_{m2}}$$
 [eq. 2]

where D_{m1} and D_{m2} refer to the distribution ratios between the phases for the metal species.

However, the distribution between the organic phase and the water phase of the metal species of interest is often not high enough after one extraction step. Series of extraction steps are thus often used in real solvent extraction processes (Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5. Solvent extraction process using counter-current flows in n steps. Y_0 refers to the initial amount of Cu in the organic phase, while Y_E refers to the amount in the loaded organic phase. X_L refers to the initial amount of Cu in the water phase and X_R refers to the amount of Cu after n extraction steps.

In the first step (box 1 in Figure 3.5) the solution containing the concentration X_L of the metal of interest (for simplicity, hereafter referred to as Cu) is mixed with the organic phase containing the extractant from step no 2 (box 2 in Figure 3.5). The concentration of Cu decreases in the water phase in each step and, after n extraction steps, the concentration of Cu remaining in the water phase, e.g. the raffinate, equals X_R . The decrease of Cu in the water phase, e.g. X_L-X_R , theoretically equals the increase of Cu in the organic phase, e.g. Y_E-Y_0 , if equal volumes of organic and water phases are used.

If a certain number of steps (n) are applied in the extraction process, the fraction of the Cu still in the water phase (φ_n) can be calculated using

$$\varphi_n = \frac{p-1}{p^{n+1}-1}$$
 [eq. 3]

where P refers to the extraction factor, which is defined as

$$P = D * \frac{o}{4} \qquad [eq. 4]$$

As follows from this equation, if equivalent volumes of organic and water phases are used, i.e. O/A=1, in each step, the distribution factor, D, can be used instead of P.

After the extraction of Cu, the loaded organic phase (Y_E) is mixed with another water solution in a process called stripping. The water solution usually contains sulphuric acid and H⁺ replaces the Cu²⁺ in the extractants in the organic phase. The reason will be discussed further later in the thesis. After stripping, the amount of Cu in the organic phase is theoretically 0 (Y_0) and the extractant is again available for forming new complexes with Cu. The organic phase can thus be used several times, which means there is a low consumption of chemicals. The stripping solution can also be used several times as the Cu is removed from the acid during electrolysis, which is usually used to achieve pure Cu metal from the stripping solution [112, 116, 117]. Both extraction and stripping reagents are recycled in commercial plants for Cu recovery. It is common that an extraction process consists of two extraction steps and one stripping step, but the combination chosen depends on the chemistry involved in each unique case [118].

Extraction reagents used in this work

Several extractants are available and they can be divided into different classes depending on the complex types formed with the metal species. The present work used acidic chelating extractants releasing H^+ during extraction and forming neutral complexes with Cu^{2+} .

Oxime extractants

The extraction reaction between an oxime extractant reagent and Cu^{2+} can schematically be described as

$$\operatorname{Cu}^{2+}_{(\mathrm{aq})} + 2\operatorname{HA}_{(\mathrm{org})} \rightarrow \operatorname{CuA}_{2(\mathrm{org})} + 2\operatorname{H}^{+}_{(\mathrm{aq})}$$
 [eq. 5]

where HA refers to the protonated organic extractant and the subscript (org) refers to complex in the organic phase. During stripping the reversed reaction takes place in which the extractant returns to the protonated form and Cu^{2+} is released. Chelating extractants such as aldoximes or ketoximes (Figure 3.6) react according to this equation.

Oximes in general and especially aldoximes are known to form very stable Cu complexes, and oximes are therefore among the most commonly used reagents for Cu extraction [113, 116, 119, 120]. The stability of those Cu complexes could be related to the very good fit for Cu in the $N_2O_2^{2^-}$ cavity (Figure 3.7) [120, 121]. Addition of a substituent with H-bond accepting properties, such as Cl or NO₂, to the Q positions will lead to increased stability of the complex, while addition of a bulky substituent such as CH₃ seems to decrease stability (Figure 3.7) [122]. This is due in the first case to the formation of further stabilizing H-bonds between the substituent in the Q position and the hydrogen while, in the latter, the strength of the H-bonds is decreased probably owing to steric hinders and distortion of the CuN₂O₂ unit from planarity (Figure 3.7b) [122].



Figure 3.6. General molecular structures of oximes a) aldoxime and b) ketoxime (A= CH₃ or C₆H₅) used commercially for Cu recovery. $R=C_9H_{12}$ or $C_{12}H_{25}$ in both cases.



Figure 3.7. Schematic structures with possible substitution in the third (Q) position of a) oxime and b) the corresponding metal-extractant complex. (A= H, CH₃ or C₆H₅) Based on [122].

Because of the symmetry of the metal complex it is possible that substitution in the A position would lead to similar effects. Unpublished quantum mechanical equilibrium calculations made by Ylmén and Panas show that the addition of a bulky substituent in the A position also leads to distortion of the CuN_2O_2 unit (Table 3.5) [123]. This is

a plausible explanation for why aldoximes form stronger complexes with Cu than ketoximes, and substitution of various groups could be used to customize the strength of the reagent.

Extractant	Group in A position	Distance N-Cu in complex [Å]	Distance O-Cu in complex [Å]
aldoxime	Н	1.985	1.966
ketoxime	CH₃	2.004	1.945
ketoxime	C ₃ H ₇	2.011	1.950

Table 3.5. Calculated inter atomic distances in the CuN_2O_2 unit as results of different groups in the A position [123].

The stability of many Cu-aldoximes complexes in an acidic environment is very high, resulting in the need of acid concentrations of $\sim 2.3M H_2SO_4$ to effectively strip Cu from the organic phase. This is not compatible with typical electrolytes in commercial electrolysis winning tanks $(1.5-2M H_2SO_4)$ and pure aldoximes are thus generally not used as extractants in the organic phase [113, 116, 119]. Instead, blends of aldoximes and ketoximes are used as extractants, or modifiers can be added to the organic phase [113]. Modifiers are usually compounds such as tridecanol or highly branched esters that decrease the possibilities for Cu-extractant complex formation by blocking the active sites of the extractants [113, 119, 124]. Modified reagents in many cases increase the so called crud formation [113, 116, 119]. Crud is a emulsion found in the interface between organic and water phases and is mainly formed from solids in the leach solution, e.g. species in water phase that precipitate during mixing, and organic degradation precipitates [114, 118]. In addition, entrainment of aqueous solution into the organic phase can result in transfer of impurities such as Cl^{-} or NH_3 to the electrolyte [113, 114, 116, 119]. Increased degradation of modified reagents compared to non modified reagents has also been reported [113, 116, 119]. However, unmodified reagents are also chemically degraded with time (several months) and aldoximes are generally less stable than ketoximes in acidic environments [116, 119].

In this work one aldoxime extractant, LIX 860N-I, and one ketoxime, LIX 84, were included (Table 3.4).

β-ketone extractants

As mentioned earlier, sulphuric acid solutions are the most common media for commercial Cu extraction, but the use of ammonical leach solutions is also common practice. Ketoximes can be used for such solutions as well, but β-ketones (Figure 3.8) are also often used [116, 125].



Figure 3.8. Schematic structure of a) β-ketone and b) the corresponding Cu complex.

The simplified reaction for Cu extraction using β -ketone in an ammonia solution can be written as

$$Cu(NH_3)_n^{2+}{}_{(aq)} + 2RH_{(org)} \rightarrow CuR_{2(org)} + 2NH_4^{+}{}_{(aq)} + (n-2)NH_{3(aq)}$$
 [eq. 6]

where n usually equals 4. As seen from eq. 6, high amounts of free ammonia will decrease the extraction of Cu. Fortunately, concentrations as high as 7M NH₃ are needed to strongly decrease the extraction efficiency of β-ketones. This concentration is higher than those in the leaching solutions usually used for Cu leaching from ores [114]. Another risk of ammonia leaching is the transfer of ammonia to the organic phase during extraction, as discussed earlier. However, the ß-ketones usually transfer only small amounts of ammonia. As seen in Table 3.4 a ß-ketone named LIX 54-100 (active component 1-phenyl-1,3-decanedione), previously named LIX54 [114, 125, 126] was used in this work. Its viscosity is low compared to that of e.g. oximes, and thus higher reagent concentrations can be used in the organic phase. High transfer of Cu to the organic phase (~30g/L; ~500mmol/L) is therefore achieved even though the distribution between the organic and water phases is low [114, 125]. The stripping of Cu from B-ketones is easy using H₂SO₄ solutions directly suitable for electrowining [114, 125]. The selectivity (SF) for Cu over other metal ions such as Fe and Zn is moderate and the leaching pH (8.5-10) in ammonia leaching must thus be chosen such that only minor amounts of compounds of other metal are leached from the ore. In this way pure Cu electrolytes can be achieved [127]. A problem using LIX 54-100 in ammonia solutions is the risk of ketimine (β -ketone+NH₃) formation, which degrades the active component [125, 127]. Newer reagents with modified β -ketone structures sterically hindering ketimine formation, such as XI-N54 or XI-57, have been shown to be more resistant to degradation [125, 127].

Phosphinic acid extractants

The fourth extraction reagent used in this work is a phosphinic acid (Cyanex 272) reacting with Cu according to

$$Cu^{2+}_{(aq)} + 2(HA)_{2(org)} \rightarrow CuA_2(HA)_{2(org)} + 2H^+_{(aq)}$$
 [eq. 7]

where $(HA)_2$ refers to the protonated organic extractant dimer [116, 128]. Their extraction mechanism is reminiscent of those of the oximes with release of 2 H⁺ but, in addition, two neutral acid molecules stabilize the complex and the extractant is usually present as dimer in organic diluents [127]. Bis(2,4,4-trimethylpentyl) phosphinic acid is one of the commercially most often used acids for extraction of Co over Ni but, depending on pH, other metal ions such as Cu, Zn and Fe can also be effectively extracted [21, 116, 129-131]. Figure 3.9 shows the schematic structures of phosphinic acid, the dimer and the corresponding Cu-extractant complex. Bis(2,4,4-trimethylpentyl) phosphinic acid is not very selective for Cu, probably due to disfavouring of planar Cu arrangements because of the bulky substituents on the phosphorous atoms [127].



Figure 3.9. Schematic structure of a) phosphinic acid, b) the dimer and c) the corresponding Cu complex. Note that 2 H^+ are released. R=C₈H₁₇ in bis(2,4,4-trimethylpentyl) phosphinic acid, the active component in LIX 272 and Cyanex 272. Based on [127].

Based on the considerations above a number of extractants typical for the four groups were chosen for the experimental work on solvent extraction of Cu from MSWI fly ash leachates. The chosen extractants are presented in Table 3.4. In summary, there is no general best choice of extraction reagent or number of extraction and stripping steps; the choices must be based on the demands on e.g. product purity and concentration differences between the target metal and other metals in the leachate in each specific situation. Thus, the optimal recovery process must be investigated and developed in each unique case [118].

Table 3.4. Relative properties of the organic reagents used for Cu^{2+} extraction in this work. Based on [113, 114, 116, 129, 132].

Property	LIX 860N-I	LIX 84	LIX 54-100	Cyanex 272
Active extractant	Aldoxime	Ketoxime	ß-ketone	Phosphinic acid
molecule				
D _{o/a}	Very high	Moderate	Low	Low
SF _{Cu/m}	Very high	Very high	Moderate	Low
Stability	Good	Good	Good, but risk for	Good
			ketimine formation	
Stripping*	Moderate	Good	Very good	Very good
Costs	Expensive	Expensive	Moderate	Moderate

*A good grade refers to fast stripping kinetics and a low concentration of the acid needed.
4. Experimental

Several analytical techniques have been used in this work, such as x-ray diffraction spectrometry (XRD), scanning electron spectroscopy (SEM) and inductively coupled plasma optic emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES). However, as these are standard techniques, they are not described here. Detailed information on their use can be found in the articles and elsewhere, for instance in [93, 133-135].

Ash samples

This work included fly ash samples from fluidised bed combustion and grate fired combustion units mainly incinerating MSW. Details on the ash samples are given in Table 4.1.

Ash	Α	В	C	D	
Boiler type	BFB	BFB	BFB	BFB	
Ash collection device/ ash type	cyclone	cyclone	cyclone	cyclone	
Addition to combustion chamber	NH ₃	NH ₃ +NaHCO ₃	NH₃	No addition	
Annotation in papers	A in I	B in I: 2 in II	C in I: 1 in II	3 in II	
Ash	1	2	3	4	5
Boiler type	BFB	BFB	BFB	MB	MB
Ash collection device/ ash type	textile filter	textile filter	textile filter	textile filter	electric precipitator filter
Comments on flue gas treatment	CaO	Ca(OH) ₂	Ca(OH)₂	CaCO₃	No addition
Annotation in papers	1 in IV and V	2 in IV and V	1 in III: 3 in IV and V	4 in IV and V	5 in IV and V

Table 4.1. Details on the MSWI ash samples used in this work.

Ashes A-D all come from the cyclones of 20 MW BFB boilers. The combustion temperature was about 850°C and in this boiler the cyclone is placed after a section containing heat transfer surfaces, which means that the temperature has decreased to about 150°C. When the cyclone ashes were produced, ammonia (NH₃) was added to the combustion zone for reduction of nitrogen oxides, except in the case of ash D. For ash B the ammonia was treated with sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃) with the aim of also binding HCl and SO₂. Ashes 2 and 3 came from the textile filters in the same boilers as the cyclone ashes, while ash 1 came from the textile filter in another BFB

boiler. Ash 4 was a filter ash from the textile filter in a MB combustor, and ash 5 was collected from an electric precipitator filter. Total contents of major and minor elements in all ash samples are given in Tables 4.2 and 4.3.

Major	Ach A	Ach B	Ach C	Ach D	Minor	Ach A	Ach B	Ach C	Ach D
elements	ASIIA	ASILD	ASILO	ASILD	elements	ASILA	ASILD	ASILO	ASILD
AI	105	105	130	125	As	40	50	30	40
Са	130	120	130	135	Ba	1900	3000	2700	4400
Fe	30	30	40	40	Cd	10	10	10	10
K	20	20	20	20	Со	50	20	30	30
Mg	15	15	15	20	Cr	490	630	550	410
Na	30	40	30	25	Cu	3800	3800	5900	7300
Р	10	10	10	10	Hg	<1	<1	<1	<1
S	10	10	10	10	Mn	2100	1800	2500	1800
Si	180	195	180	180	Мо	20	10	10	30
Ti	10	10	10	15	Ni	160	160	220	210
					Pb	1300	1100	1500	1500
					Sn	70	70	120	190
					Sr	360	370	400	380
					V	50	60	50	60
					Zn	6300	5900	9000	9600

Table 4.2. Total content of major and trace elements in the cyclone ashes A-D. Major elements are given as g/kg dry ash and minor elements are given as mg/kg dry ash.

Table 4.3. Total content of major and trace elements in the filter ashes 1	-5. Major
elements are given as g/kg dry ash and minor elements are given as mg/kg d	lry ash.

Major elements	Ash 1	Ash 2	Ash 3	Ash 4	Ash 5	Minor elements	Ash 1	Ash 2	Ash 3	Ash 4	Ash 5
Al	20	15	20	25	30	As	50	30	80	110	1100
Ca	315	410	360	210	120	Ba	1300	440	770	1000	1100
Fe	10	5.5	5.6	9	24	Cd	60	30	90	210	370
К	15	10	25	50	70	Co	20	10	20	50	20
Mg	9.5	8.5	10	9.5	12	Cr	380	150	190	470	920
Na	20	15	30	50	80	Cu	7800	3090	5400	1500	2500
Р	3	3	4	4.5	6	Hg	1	3	3	10	1
S	30	15	10	40	75	Mn	690	400	570	820	840
Si	30	25	35	45	70	Мо	10	20	10	20	40
Ti	<1	2	2	6	10	Ni	90	30	30	40	80
Cl	190	120	200*	150	110	Pb	4000	2600	5700	4800	11000
						Sb	460	160	-	1600	2300
						Se	<1	2	-	2	10
						Sn	250	150	20	750	2000
						Sr	280	290	500	300	290
						V	10	20	10	20	50
						Zn	5500	3300	5800	25600	55100

*approximate value from [136]

5. Summary and discussion of results in Papers I-V

Characterization of ash

As shown in Table 4.1 the amounts of several elements, such as Ca, Ti, Si, Cd and Pb, differ between the two groups of ash samples. Titanium and Si, mainly forming oxides with low volatility, are generally present in higher amounts in the cyclone ashes, while Cd and Pb are more abundant in the filter ashes. This is probably due to the formation of volatile chlorides. However, there are also differences between the filter ashes where for instance the addition of various Ca compounds to the flue gas channels is reflected in the concentrations of Ca. Elements As, Cd and Zn are present in higher amounts in the ashes from MB combustion (4 and 5) than in the FB ashes, which has to do with variations in the waste composition and differences in the incineration techniques used.

Even though fly ashes from MSWI are very heterogeneous materials, the XRD analyses generally showed the same major crystalline compounds in both cyclone and filter ash (Tables 5.1 and 5.2). The amounts of amorphous material are low, especially in the filter ashes. Quartz, NaCl, CaCO₃ and CaSO₄ were indentified in all ashes, as were Al_xCa_y oxides and silicates. Similar results have been obtained in other studies for MSWI fly ash [70, 71, 74, 137, 138]. Alkali metal chlorides, i.e. NaCl and KCl, were generally major compounds in the filter ashes whereas non-volatile compounds such as SiO₂ (quartz) and silicates were less common.

Mineral	Ash A	Ash B	Ash C	Ash D
NaCl	Major	Major	Minor	Trace
KCI		Trace	Trace	Trace
CaO		Trace	Minor	
CaCO ₃	Major	Major	Minor	Major
CaSO ₄	Minor	Minor	Minor	Minor
Ca ₃ Al ₂ O ₆	Minor	Minor	Minor	Trace
SiO ₂	Major	Major	Major	Major
Ca ₂ Al ₂ SiO ₇	Major	Major	Major	Major
(Na,Ca)AlSi₃O ₈	Minor	Minor	Minor	Major
KAISi ₃ O ₈		Minor	Minor	Major
AI	Major	Major	Major	Major
Fe ₂ O ₃		Minor	Trace	Minor
Fe ₃ O ₄		Minor		Minor
MgFe ₂ O ₄				Minor

Table 5.1. Crystalline compounds identified in the original cyclone ash samples A-D (Papers I and II).

Table 5.2. Crystalline compounds identified in the original filter ash samples 1-5 (Paper V).

Mineral	Ash 1	Ash 2	Ash 3	Ash 4	Ash 5
NaCl	Major	Minor	Major	Major	Major
KCI		Trace	Major	Minor	Minor
KCaCl₃			Trace		
Ca(OH) ₂	Major	Major	Major		Trace
CaClOH	Major	Minor	Major		
CaCO₃	Minor	Minor	Major	Major	Minor
CaSO ₄	Major	Minor	Trace	Trace	Minor
Ca ₃ Al ₂ O ₆	Minor	Minor	Trace	Minor	Trace
Ca ₃ Al ₂ (OH) ₁₂				Trace	
SiO ₂	Trace	Trace	Trace	Minor	Trace

The acid neutralising capacity of ash 3 was measured and a value of 10 mmol H^+/g dry ash was obtained (Figure 5.1). The main part of the acid was consumed within 30 minutes. This indicates that most of the alkaline compounds, such as CaCO₃ and Ca(OH)₂, identified in the XRD analysis are easily available. Two minor buffering regions can be identified and are probably a result of the carbonate system with pKa₁=6.4 and pKa₂=10.3 [139]. van Herck and co-workers reported a similar acid neutralising capacity (<12 mmol H⁺/g ash) for a MSWI filter ash [76]. In another

project, acid neutralising capacities of 7.0 mmol H^+/g ash for ash 1, 2.2 H^+/g ash for its corresponding cyclone ash and 2.7 mmol H^+/g ash for ash 5 were obtained [138]. Ash 4 was found to have an acid neutralising capacity of 1.1 mmol H^+/g ash [140]. In the same work, a filter ash from the same plant that produced ashes 2 and 3 showed an acid neutral capacity of 16.3 mmol H^+/g ash, while the corresponding value for the cyclone ash was 1.6 mmol H^+/g ash [140].



Figure 5.1. Acid comsumption rate/g dry ash during the pH-static experiments at pH 7. Magnification of the first hour is inset (Paper III).

The particle size distributions were measured in the original filter ashes 3 and 5 to investigate whether there were any differences between ashes from different incineration techniques. The data showed that the major part (>70%) of the particles were in the size fraction between 5 and 70 μ m (maximum around 20 μ m) for ash 3, while ash 5 had a broader particle size distribution of 50-950 μ m (maximum around 340 μ m) (Figure 5.2). After a few minutes of leaching in water with ultra sonic treatment, the particle size distributions in both ashes were displaced towards smaller sizes, suggesting that the larger particles consist of agglomerated small particles. The fraction of larger particles in ash 3 also increased, however, indicating that agglomeration of particles can occur during leaching. This phenomenon was also observed in some experiments for the cyclone ashes where the average particle sizes increased with leaching (Paper I). It should be noted that only particles smaller than

118 μ m could be measured in the laser diffraction device used for the cyclone ashes, and unfortunately no information about larger particles can be given.



Increasing particle size

Figure 5.2. Particle size distribution $(1-1000\mu m)$ for original filter ash 3 (a-c) and 5 (d-f) printed in logarithmic scale. The maximum at the Y scale corresponds to about 5 volume% of the total ash amount used in each experiment. a) ash 3, original, b) and c) ash 3, treated with US, 12kHz and 24kHz, d) ash 5, original e) and f) ash 5, treated with US, 12kHz and 24kHz (Paper V)

These results indicate that, even though the MB ash initially contained larger particles as compared to the BFB ash, the particle size distributions in the ashes after some leaching become more similar.

Distribution of metals

As discussed earlier, the distribution of metals on fly ash particles is to some extent dependent on the size of the particles. Trace metals are generally enriched on smaller particles. When studying the composition of different particle size fractions of ash D (a cyclone ash from a BFB combustor), the results for trace metals showed this expected trend with increasing metal concentration as the particle size decreased (Table 5.3 and Figure 5.3). The distribution of major elements was less predictable. Calcium, Mg and Fe were enriched on smaller particles while K showed the opposite trend and Na was more evenly distributed. Potassium and Na often occur as volatile chlorides and were therefore expected to be enriched on small particles. However, the presence of those elements in feldspar minerals in large particles probably covers the effect of chloride enrichment in small particles (Table 5.1). The SEM analyses indicated the presence of particle aggregates in the larger size fractions of ash D,

which probably further explains the lack of enrichment of Na and K in small particle fractions obtained by sieving (Figure 5.4). The different particle size fractions were also analysed by XRD, and a comparison of peak heights showed that the amounts of NaCl and KCl increased with decreasing particle size. The amounts of CaCO₃, CaSO₄, Ca₂Al₂SiO₇ and Fe₂O₃ also increased with decreasing particle size, while the content of SiO₂ and Al metal decreased. Quartz is a remnant from the bed sand, where <1% of the particles are originally smaller than 500 µm, explaining this result. The metallic Al is probably a residue from aluminium foil or other aluminium objects in the fuel.

Table 5.3. Elemental composition of different particle size fractions of ash D. The amounts are given in g/kg dry ash for major elements and in mg/kg dry ash for minor and trace elements. (Paper II)

	d _p > 180µm	d _p < 180µm	d _p < 125µm	d _p < 90μm	d _p < 63µm	d _p < 45µm	d _p < 32 μm
Major	r elements						
Ca	90	100	140	150	170	180	180
Fe	15	15	15	20	20	30	35
К	20	20	20	15	15	10	15
Mg	10	10	15	15	15	20	20
Na	20	25	20	20	25	20	25
Trace	elements						
Cd	15	20	20	20	30	30	40
Cr	260	300	320	320	420	410	460
Cu	5800	5800	6900	8900	10500	10900	14600
Mn	1400	1600	1800	2200	2500	2200	2400
Pb	1300	1200	1400	1800	2500	2700	4000
Zn	6800	5000	7500	10300	13600	15100	20200



Figure 5.3. Elemental composition of different particle size fractions of ash D. The amounts are given in mg/kg dry ash and the particle sizes are decreasing from $>180\mu m$ to $<32 \mu m$ (Paper II).



Figure 5.4. SEM image, 500x magnification, of the size fraction with particles >180 μ m in ash D. The bar corresponds to 100 μ m (Paper II).

Even though many groups have found an enrichment of trace metal compounds in the smallest particle sizes [21, 26-28, 141], published results show variations. Gilardoni and co-workers studied MSWI filter ash particles of sizes <100 μ m and found that the majority of the particles were smaller than 1 μ m. However, these small particles correspond to a minor part of the total mass of ash [142]. They further found that Fe and Zn were present in ~30-80% of all the particles smaller than 20 μ m, with a distribution that was rather independent of particles size, whereas Cu was generally less abundant (occurring in less than 20% of the particles) but was concentrated to particles around 1.5 μ m and 3-15 μ m. Arsenic, Pb, Cu, Zn and Mo have been shown to be enriched in particles <2.5 μ m compared to particles >65 μ m in coal fly ash [143, 144]. Enrichment in small particle sizes was also found for Ba, Ni, Cr, V and P while the abundance of Y, Sr, Ti, Rb, K, Zr, Ca, Mg, Mn and Fe did not vary with particle size.

The distribution of metals on different particle sizes in the larger particle size fraction, such as sizes from 10µm to 1mm, is not often discussed in the literature. Liao and co-workers investigated cyclone ash particle sizes from <10µm to >850µm from biomass gasification and found that Cu, Ti, Cr, Pb and Ni were enriched in 50-125 µm particles, while no trends were found for As, Cd, Co, Ba, Mo or V [145]. It was shown in the same investigation that the major elements, Fe, Mg, Mn, Na, P, Ca and K, were enriched in the size fraction 74-180µm. However, the amounts of Cu, Ti, Cr and Ni increased in particles >400 µm, and Mg, Na, Ca and K increased in particles >850 µm. No distribution trends connected to particle size were found for Al. The increase of metals in small particles is suggested to be due a condensation of volatile metal compounds such as PbCl₂ due to the large surface area of small particles [145]. No explanation for the enrichment in the larger particles was given. However, a speculative explanation of the relative increase in abundance of metals (Cu, Ti, Cr, Ni) in large ash particles may be the presence of small pieces of metals and alloys. The same explanation may apply to the results obtained by Thipse and co-workers in an investigation of MSWI filter ash, where they found increased amounts of Fe, Ni and Cr with increasing particle size in 0-1200 µm particles while the amounts of Al and Si decreased with increasing particle size [146]. The amounts of Pb and Hg increased with increasing particle size up to 300 µm but decreased in larger particles.

In summary, the studies discussed above and other published results do not give clear trends for the distribution of metals in ash particles of different sizes. However, the most common trend seems to be enrichment of many trace metals in small particles, while differences depending on properties during incineration as well as variations in fuel are reasons for other distribution patterns. In addition, the ash matrix itself can have an influence on the abundance of metals in ashes, as has been found for ashes from various fuels [38, 147]. It has not been completely verified whether the ash

matrix is important for the distribution of metal compounds in MSWI ashes as well. For this reason, the correlations and associations (co-occurrence of major and minor elements in minor rich particles) between major (Al, Ca, Cl, Fe, K, Na, Si and Ti) and minor (As, Ba, Cd, Co, Cu, Mn, Ni, Pb, Sr, V and Zn) elements were studied (Paper II). Associations between several minor elements (As, Cd, Co, Cu, Ni and Sr) and major elements, i.e. Ca and Fe, were observed, whereas real correlations were found only for the pairs Cd-Mg, Fe-Ni and Sr-Ca. The importance of Ca compounds such as CaCO₃ as hosts for trace metal compounds in ash has been reported earlier [39, 40, 148, 149]. In contrast, neither correlations nor associations between Cr, Pb, Ti and Zn and major elements were found. This indicates that the latter metals, or the species of these metals carried by the flue gas, primarily bind to available particles by a random process regardless of the particle matrix composition, whereas the binding of the former group of metals includes an affinity effect, i.e. that As, Cd, Co, Cu, Ni and Sr bind to available particles with a higher affinity for specific particle matrix types. It is also possible that the metals were already present in the particles, i.e. the association is a result from co-existence in the waste. This is probably the reason for the correlation between Ni and Fe, which is likely to be rest fractions from stainless steel. However, in general, the reasons for affinity or a lack of affinity are presently not clear and it should be noted that associations and correlations were mainly found in ash C. For ash B the addition of Na in the combustion zone led to a large enrichment in Na species, which covered possible association effects since Na was found on the surfaces of all the particles studied. Problems with water soluble chlorides hiding correlations between elements have been reported earlier [142]. When studying MSWI filter ash particles smaller than 10 µm, Zn was found to correlate only with Na in the original ash, while positive correlations between Zn and Na as well as between Zn and Fe were observed after washing in water. In addition, Zn gave negative correlations with Ca, Al and Si, and Pb was negatively correlated with Si and Al in the washed ash. Thus the results of Gilardoni and co-workers suggest that Zn and Pb would not be present in silicate or aluminate forms. A negative correlation after washing away the water soluble alkali salts was also found between Cu and Ca [142].

Element analysis with an energy dispersive X-ray (EDX) detector in a scanning electron microscope was also used to study possible correlations between major elements in ashes B and C (Paper II). The most significant correlation was found for the pair Al and Si. This was expected because of the presence of aluminium silicates. In spherical particles, Na and Cl showed a high correlation suggesting that NaCl was adsorbed on particles present in the flue gas and that local eutectic melts may cause the particles to become spherical. In addition, it was found that a high content of Al and Si was generally coupled to a low content of Ca.

It is not possible on the basis of the results discussed above to determine whether volatile metal compounds (As, Ba, Cd, Co, Cu, Mn, Ni, Pb, Sr, V and Zn) adsorb directly onto special minerals in the particle surfaces or whether the metal species react with the components in the ash matrix after condensation. It is also possible that the particle and the metal species are remnants from the fuel and have been present in the same structure throughout the combustion process. The ash formation probably includes all processes discussed above. To be able to understand these processes and their effects on the chemistry of minor and trace metals further, investigations of the speciation, i.e. the chemical forms of minor metals, are needed. Speciation of Cu in ashes 3 and 5 using XAS data showed that CuO and/or Cu(OH)₂, CuSO₄·H₂O and metallic Cu were the suggested dominating species in ash 3, while CuO and/or CuSiO₃·H₂O in addition to metallic Cu seem to be the major Cu components in ash 5 (Paper V). The most probable speciation for Zn in ash 3 is as silicate or hydroxide in addition to ZnCl₂·1.33H₂O. The data for ash 5 were less specific but indicated that Zn is bound as $ZnCl_2 \cdot 1.33H_2O$ and in oxidic forms such as ZnO, $Zn(OH)_2$, Zn silicate, Zn aluminate and/or Zn-containing spinel phases such as franklinite ((Fe,Mn,Zn)(Fe,Mn)₂O₄). The absence of Zn-Zn distances in the data indicates that Zn has replaced other ions in a variety of compounds. These results suggest that especially the leaching of Cu from these ashes may differ due to the presence of more soluble compounds in ash 3 compared to ash 5. This will be further discussed later in the thesis.

Information about the speciation of metals can also be obtained from sequential extraction methods. The commonly applied sequential extraction method that was

originally developed by Tessier and co-workers in 1979 was intended to be used to study how various environmental conditions influence the stability of metals in soil and sediment samples [89]. However, this method has also been widely used for other materials like ashes [40, 67, 76, 88, 90, 150, 151].

The sequential extraction results obtained in this study showed that Cu was harder bound in cyclone ash than in filter ash (Figure 5.5). Similar results were obtained for all metals studied (As, Co, Cr, Ni, Pb, Zn) and the water soluble fraction was generally <1% for most elements in both cyclone and filter ash (Paper I). The only exception was Pb, which occurred in significant amounts of water soluble forms (>40%) in the filter ash. A high release of Pb and Zn from MSWI fly ash in the first steps (water soluble and exchangeable) using sequential extraction has been reported earlier and has been suggested to be due to the release of Ca compounds such as CaCO₃, to which Pb and Zn are suggested to be adsorbed [40, 150]. Associations between Ca and metals such as As and Cu were found in our LA-ICP-MS studies of cyclone ashes B and C (Paper II), while Pb and Zn did not correlate to any of the major elements studied. It therefore not seems likely that the release of Ca compounds is the reason for the release patterns of Pb and Zn found here. However, correlations between Pb and Zn and Ca in the filter ash cannot be ruled out. The release of Pb and Zn could also be controlled by their hydroxides as suggested in another study [76].



Figure 5.5. Results of sequential extraction for Cu from ash 3, ash A and ash B.

Even though sequential extraction protocols are generally easier to apply than are Xray spectroscopic methods, such as EXAFS, they are associated with some problems because of possible reactions taking place during the different extraction steps. The results obtained from different sequential extraction methods applied to sediments and soils have given significantly different suggestions about the distribution of metals between fractions [94, 96, 152]. This lack of consistency between results may be caused by heterogeneity in sample materials but can also be due to effects caused by different leaching parameters, such as the leaching time and the L/S ratio used. As an example, the leaching times used to identify water soluble and exchangeable ions in ashes vary from 10 minutes to 16 hours between the investigations [67, 69, 90, 153-155]. Other factors affecting the amounts of metal ions detected in leachates are sorption processes. Adsorption of metal ions from a water phase onto minerals has been extensively investigated and numerous publications exist on this matter. Aluminum and iron (hydr)oxides as well as amorphous aluminosilicates are common phases in ash and to which a number of metal ions, e.g. Pb, Cd, Zn and Cu, can sorb [10, 55, 63]. Calcite and feldspars, other common minerals in ash, have also been pointed out as surfaces providing adsorption sites for metal ions [156, 157]. In addition, fly ash itself has been suggested as being adsorbent for metal ions from water [158-160]. It is important to take these effects into account when sequential extraction methods are used to determine the chemical association forms of metals in ash or soil samples. Clearly, the amount of a metal detected in a specific fraction does not conclusively describe the speciation, and the amount in each fraction can be an underestimation as well as an overestimation due to precipitation and other reactions.

Leaching

Water as leaching agent

As seen from the sequential extraction analysis, the fraction of water soluble metal compounds was generally low in the ashes studied, which has also been reported in several earlier investigations [34, 64, 67-70, 161]. However, as discussed earlier, variations in leaching parameters, such as the contact time, have been found to influence the amounts of metal ions detected in the leachates. For this reason, the leaching of metals (As, Ba, Cd, Cr, Cu, Mo, Ni, Pb, Sb and Zn) in water from cyclone ash was studied in more detail (Paper I). It was found that variations in leaching parameters (leaching time, L/S ratio and grinding prior leaching)

significantly influenced the release patterns. The release of As, Cd, Ni, Sb and Se was so low (<1mg/kg dry ash) that no trends could be shown. For the other metals, a longer leaching time generally resulted in lower amounts of metal ions detected in the leachate, as illustrated by Zn in Figure 5.6. This is probably due to precipitation of e.g. metal hydroxides as the pH in all leachates varied between 9 and 11 [76, 162].



Figure 5.6. Effect of leaching time on the amount of Zn detected in the leachate from ground ashes A-C at an L/S ratio of 10. The amounts released are present as mg Zn/kg dry ash and leaching times are in minutes (Paper I).

An increased L/S ratio generally led to higher amounts of metals detected in the water for ashes A and B, whereas many metals in ash C showed the opposite trend. Increased leaching with an increased L/S ratio has been reported by others [68, 70, 111] and the solubility equilibrium for the metal compounds present in the ash is probably the limiting factor. As indicated above, the results obtained for ash C suggested different chemical characteristics compared to the other ashes studied, with a negative correlation between L/S ratio and release of several metals, such as Cu, Pb and Zn. This is exemplified by Zn in Figure 5.7. A negative correlation between the L/S ratio and Zn leaching has been reported earlier, while in the same study the leaching of Cu increased with L/S and Pb was not affected [161]. The decrease in release with increasing L/S could be due to the precipitation of secondary compounds formed from metal ions and anions released from ash compounds that

were not released at lower L/S ratios. In a recent study, Guyonnet and co-workers compared different leaching standards and their relation to time (<19 months) and L/S ratio (<4) for MSWI ash in order to identify whether the L/S ratio could be used to predict the release of non-reactive constituents such as Ca, K and Na and reactive constituents (Cr and Al) [163]. They found that non-reactive constituents are released quickly more or less independently of L/S ratio while the releases of reactive constituents are influenced by reactions and kinetics rather than the L/S ratio. The importance of the reduction-oxidation process between Al and Cr on leachability from ash as well as rapid release of Ca, K and Na have also been reported by others [74, 136]. Similar conclusions were also drawn by Mizutami and co-workers, who studied the release of Pb, Cd, Cu and Zn from several MSWI fly ashes [73]. They found that the release trends in metal compounds as a function of L/S differed between ashes and explained this by referring to the different ash matrix composition in the ashes studied [73].



Figure 5.7. Effect of L/S ratio on the amount of Zn detected in the water from ash C with a leaching time of 10 minutes. All amounts are present as mg Zn released/kg dry ash (Paper I).

Rapid releases of soluble salts, such as NaCl, from a fly ash can also affect the leaching of minor metal compounds since the release of major ash matrix compounds results in an increased porosity [70]. Thus, encapsulated metal compounds can be exposed to the leaching agent through the new pores. With the aim of enhancing

leaching by exposing as much as possible of the ash surface to the leaching agent, the cyclone ash samples were ground before leaching (Paper I). However, when some leaching tests were done without grinding the ash before leaching, it was found that the amounts released in some cases increased significantly compared to the first set of experiments. This was generally a phenomenon found for metals in ash C while the release of metals in ashes A and B was not affected to any great extent. The largest effects of grinding on release were found for Zn and Pb (Figure 5.8).



Figure 5.8. Effect of grinding on the amount of Pb and Zn detected in the water leachate from ash C with L/S=10 and 10 minutes of leaching time. All amounts are present as mg Pb and Zn released/kg dry ash (Paper I).

It is clear that grinding may have a strong influence on the amounts of water soluble compounds of metals detected in ash leachates, but its effect depends on both the ash matrix and the element of interest. No general conclusions can thus be drawn from the results about whether or not cyclone ashes from MSW combustion should be ground before leaching. However, the results indicate that grinding may lead to an underestimation of the water soluble amounts of metals. As discussed earlier and reported in paper I, particle size distribution analyses of unground original and leached ash samples showed that agglomeration of ash particles in ashes A and B occurred, whereas this was not found for ash C. However, when ash C was first ground and then leached, both agglomeration of particles in leached unground ash C probably contributes to the higher release of some metals from this ash sample.

Leaching of unground ashes A and B lead to agglomeration and probably encapsulation of metal compounds that otherwise would have been possible to leach.



Figure 5.9. Particle size distributions for ash C in original, ground and leached (10 minutes, L/>>10) ash samples. Particle sizes are in μ m (Paper I).

From the results and discussion above, it can be concluded that the release of metal compounds in water is affected by variations in leaching parameters. In addition, the ash matrix influences the amounts released. Adsorption processes and precipitation of secondarily formed compounds are most likely to be the reasons for this. The release of minor and trace elements clearly depends on the release of major ash components and the total chemical equilibrium formed in the leachate. This influences the possibilities for the minor and trace elements to react and form water soluble complexes or to precipitate. Other important factors that affect leaching are the chemical form of the trace metal and whether it is present on the surface or inside the particle. In the LA-ICP-MS analysis in this work (Paper II) it was found that the presence of different metal compounds on fly ash particles is mainly a random process. It could not be concluded whether the metals are adsorbed onto the particle surface or whether they react with it. However, neither Pb nor Zn showed any association with major components, which indicates that they are weakly adsorbed to the particle surfaces. That would explain their relatively high leachability in water.

Minor metals (Cu, Mn, Pb and Zn) in filter ash (ash 3) also showed a low release (maximum 3%) in water with the exception of Pb (>10% water soluble) (Table 5.4). This is lower than the fraction released in the first step of the sequential extraction (>40% water soluble). The reasons for the different results can be the longer leaching time and higher L/S used in these experiments, suggesting that adsorption or precipitation of e.g. PbSO₄ can take place. Earlier work on this ash showed that the amount of SO₄ detected decreased after 30 minutes, which suggests that 10 minutes of leaching (used in the sequential extraction) may be too short to effectively precipitate Pb as PbSO₄. Comparing the release of Pb with leaching results from other waste ashes, it seems that a high pH is more important than the L/S ratio (Table 5.4). This is probably due to a formation of soluble hydroxy-ions. The PHREEQC calculations (Paper III) suggest that, at a pH above 12, formation of soluble Pb(OH)₃⁻ and Pb(OH)₄²⁻ is promoted, while lower pH promotes formation of the less soluble Pb(OH)₂.

Table 5.4. Release of selected major and minor elements in water after leaching ash 3 compared to results reported in the literature. All results are presented as % leached of total amount (Paper III).

L/S: leaching time	end pH	AI	Ca	Fe	к	Mg	Na	Si	Cu	Mn	Pb	Zn	Ash
50; 24 h	12.4	<4	31	<1	100	<1	71	4	<1	<1	14	3	Ash 3
20; 3 h	9.1	nd	18	nd	83	8	92	nd	2	4	<1	14	Industrial waste fly ash [34]
100; 3 h	10.5	3	21	-	71	-	55	-	1	-	2	1	MSW fly ash [69]
100; 1 h	10.8	18	63	10	65	12	53	nd	<1	-	1	<1	MSW fly ash [71]

nd- not detected

- not measured

When the pH was decreased to 7 the release of Pb decreased significantly (1%) whereas leaching of other metals (Mn and Zn) increased to about 20% (Paper III). The release of Cd and Mo was also high (>97%). General leaching patterns of MSWI residues in relation to pH indicate that Mo is released in increasing amounts at pH levels below 7, while Pb and Zn are amphoteric elements with minimum leaching at neutral pH (Figure 3.3). This is in agreement with the release of Pb found in this work (Paper III), and PHREEQC modelling suggests that carbonate is a solubility controlling solid at pH 7. As Zn also shows amphoteric leaching, the release is

expected to be low at pH 7. The higher release found here (Table 5.4) is probably due to the speciation of Zn in ash 3. In this filter ash, Zn is present in oxidic Zn minerals such as ZnO and Zn_2SiO_4 , both of which are soluble in dilute acid solutions [100, 164, 165].

As expected, elements present as chlorides such as Na and K are released in high amounts in all studied leachates, including water, indicating that this release is mainly availability controlled (Tables 5.4-5.8). Calcium is also released in high amounts but the release generally increased with decreasing pH, which is mainly due to the dissolution of calcium carbonate (pKa1=6.4 and pKa2=10.3), one of the main components of this kind of ash (Table 5.2). This is in agreement with earlier reported results [136, 163].

Leaching for metal recovery

Acidic leaching

As shown in Table 5.5 and Figure 5.10, the pH is a very important factor in controlling the release of metals from ash 3. Generally, an acidic pH resulted in a significant increase in the release of both major and minor metal compounds compared to the results for alkaline pH. In some cases, the formation of secondary compounds was observed. When using a leaching liquid based on H_2SO_4 the concentration of Ca and Pb in the leachate is controlled by the solubility equilibrium for the corresponding sulphates. Since their solubilities are low the apparent release of Ca and Pb is low (Table 5.5 and Figure 5.10). This is important if the ash is to be utilised, as the toxic Pb is present in the resulting ash instead of being removed from it. Otherwise, Pb was generally the minor metal that was most easily released of those studied (Paper III). The release of Cu, Mn and Zn was high (>70%) for the low pH solutions while it was <1% for the solutions with an end pH above 11 (Table 5.5).

Leaching agent	end pH	AI	Ca	Fe	к	Mg	Na	Si	Cu	Mn	Pb	Zn	Ref
1 M HCI L/S 5	11.7	< 4	30	< 1	64	< 1	44	4	< 1	< 1	23	<1	
3 M HCI L/S 5	< 0	76	63	63	86	64	58	44	100	71	100	77	
1 M HNO3 L/S 5	11.8	< 4	40	< 1	84	< 1	53	1	< 1	< 1	23	<1	
3 M HNO3 L/S 5	< 0	67	61	48	82	58	55	36	100	66	96	72	
1.5 M H₂SO₄ L/S 10	0.4	60	2	81	100	82	67	58	100	98	5	100	
0.2 M acidic process water L/S 5	12.0	<1	19	< 1	92	< 1	53	< 1	<1	<1	1	<1	
HCI	~9	<1	50- 90	1-5	-	30	-	-	<1	-	<1	1-5	[81]
HCI	~4	30- 40	80- 95	1-5	-	40- 50	-	-	20- 70	-	55- 60	60- 80	[81]
H ₂ SO ₄	9	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	<1	-	2	4	[66]
H ₂ SO ₄	1.5	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	7	-	30	22	[66]

Table 5.5. Fraction of major and minor ash components released from ash 3 after 24 hours of leaching using strong mineral acids compared with other results reported in the literature for similar ashes. All results are given as % released of total amount in the dry ash (Paper III).

- not measured



Figure 5.10. Concentrations of major and minor components in leachates from ash 3 after acidic leaching. All amounts are presented as mmol/L. No bar means that the measured concentration is <1mmol/L.

The release of minor metals (Cu, Mn, Pb and Zn) from ash 3 at an end pH of about 0 was not very different from that obtained with an end pH of 3 (Tables 5.5 and 5.6 and Figures 5.10 and 5.11). However, the release of the major elements Al, Fe and Si

decreased significantly when the end pH was increased from 0 to 3. PHREEQC modelling suggested that solubility controlling phases can be various (hydr)oxides such as $Al(OH)_3$ and FeOOH. These results suggest that acid leaching of ash with the aim of maximising the removal of minor, hazardous metal compounds could be done at an optimum pH where the release of major ash forming elements is decreased. This is important as it minimises the consumption of acid for leaching. In addition, less of the ash matrix is dissolved, which is good if the ash is to be used as e.g. filling material. The relative release of metal compounds at pH 3 is comparable for all filter ash samples (Table 5.6). No difference could be seen between ashes from different incineration techniques (ashes 1-3 BFB and ashes 4-5 MB). Aluminium is an exception, with a higher fractional release from MB ashes, 4 and 5, compared to BFB ashes, 1-3. This may be due to the presence of Al in different compounds in the original ashes, but this could not be verified with the XRD data (Table 5.2). It should be noted that the comparably high end pH reached for ash 2 decreased the leaching of several metals including Cu, indicating that a pH of 5 is too high to achieve effective leaching. The leaching of Cu from ash 5 is also lower compared to the other ashes, despite the low pH (Table 5.6 and Figure 5.11). This is probably due to the presence of less soluble Cu compounds in this ash than in ash 3, as discussed earlier.

Table 5.6. Fr	action of total	amounts of n	najor and mine	or ash compon	ents released
from ashes 1-	-5 after 24 hou	urs of leaching	g using HNO ₃	at an initial p	H of 2.2. All
results are pre	sented as % of	total amounts	(Papers IV and	d V).	

	Ash 1	Ash 2	Ash 3	Ash 4	Ash 5
End pH	3.2	4.9	3.2	3.0	2.5
Element					
Al	29	<1	9	46	65
Ca1	58	62	59	79	50
Cu	95	42	>100	>100	58
Fe	3	<1	<1	9	26
K ¹	>100	>100	>100	>100	>100
Mg	100	>100	>100	>100	>100
Mn	65	76	74	103	78
Na ¹	98	74	76	>100	>100
Pb	93	76	>100	>100	76
Si	1	<1	<1	1	2
Zn	71	60	77	>100	68

¹Semi quantitative



Figure 5.11. Concentrations of major and minor components in leachates from ashes 1-5 after acidic leaching for 24 hours using HNO_3 at an initial pH of 2.2. All amounts are presented as mmol/L. Ca, K and Na are semi quantitative. No bar means that the measured concentration is <1 mmol/L.

Organic acids and special complex forming agents

Some organic acids were tested as leaching agents for metal compounds in ash 3 (Paper III). The aim was to use the complex forming properties of these acids. However, with the amounts of acid used in these tests, the only metals released in significant amounts were Ca, K, Na and Pb (Table 5.7). The low release is probably due to the fact that the alkalinity of the ash samples resulted in a high pH in the leachates. Equilibrium calculations using PHREEQC for the cases of acetate and formate indicated that complexes are preferably formed with Ca over other ions. The only test where Cu was released in significant amounts was that in which the 1M lactic acid solution was used (Table 5.7). According to our PHREEQC calculations, lactate mainly formed complexes with Ca in this case as well, but the formation of lactate complexes with Cu and Pb was favoured over complex formation with Mn and Zn, which may explain those results. The release of Cu from MSWI bottom ash due to the formation of organo-copper complexes has been reported before, and especially dissolved organic matter (DOM) from the ash has been shown to be important as the ligand [85, 86].

Leaching agent	end pH	AI	Ca	Fe	Κ	Mg	Na	Si	Cu	Mn	Pb	Zn
	Organic acids											
0.1 M formic acid	12.3	< 4	19	< 1	83	< 1	54	3	< 1	< 1	25	< 1
0.1 M acetic acid	12.2	< 4	17	< 1	70	< 1	52	2	< 1	< 1	32	< 1
0.1 M lactic acid	12.3	< 4	17	< 1	69	< 1	50	2	2	< 1	30	< 1
1 M lactic acid	12.0	< 4	37	< 1	100	< 1	66	< 1	23	< 1	43	1
0.5 M oxalic acid	11.6	< 4	31	< 1	100	< 1	53	1	1	< 1	1	< 1
			Specia	l comple	x formir	ng agen	ts					
0.1 M EDTA without pH adjustment	12.3	< 4	19	< 1	82	< 1	35	2	< 1	< 1	34	1
0.1 M EDTA with pH adjustment	8.2	< 4	65	< 1	97	40	40	5	100	25	94	40
0.1 M NH₄CI	12.2	< 4	19	< 1	83	< 1	54	2	< 1	< 1	27	< 1
0.1 M NH4NO3	12.0	< 4	21	< 1	89	< 1	53	2	< 1	< 1	23	< 1
3 M NH ₄ NO ₃	8.3	< 4	53	< 1	77	16	41	4	100	< 1	1	29

Table 5.7. Fraction of major and minor ash components released from ash 3 after 24 hours of leaching with various leaching agents using L/S=5. All results are given as % released of total amount in the dry ash (Paper III).

The use of EDTA as an effective complexing agent and the dependence of the optimal binding properties for various metals on pH are well known [166]. The results of using EDTA solutions with various end pH in ash leaching tests showed that the complex formation with Cu ions was favoured by a pH of 8. Without the pH adjustment, less than 1% was released from the ash. The effect of pH was similar for the other metals. With an optimised pH it is possible that EDTA could be used for removal of Cu, Pb and Zn from ash. Our PHREEQC modelling showed that, in the EDTA solution with the higher pH, EDTA mainly formed complexes with Ca. This fraction decreased with decreasing pH, thus favouring complex formation with other ions (Table 5.8). Other published data on the use of EDTA for metal leaching from MSWI fly ash indicate significant removal of Cu (60-70%), Pb (70-90%) and Zn (50-100%), in agreement with the results of the present work [66, 81]. The pH (~4-9) did not affect the leaching very much but an acidic environment generally enhanced leaching somewhat [81].

The solutions with low concentrations of NH_4Cl and NH_4NO_3 did not release any significant amounts of metals except Ca, K, Na and Pb, as discussed earlier (Table 5.7). However when the concentration of NH_4NO_3 was increased, the pH decreased due to the release of H^+ from $NH4^+$. Ammine formation is favoured between pH 8

and 10, where the ammonium-ammonia buffering system is most effective. As Pb does not form ammine complexes, the release of Pb decreased and the slightly alkaline pH probably also contributed to the low leaching (Table 5.7). The release of Cu was high due to the formation of stable copper ammine complexes such as $[Cu(NH_3)_4]^{2+}$ [139]. The stability of such complexes in the leachate was also confirmed by PHREEQC calculations. Formation of stable complexes in ammonium solutions from different Cu sources such as soil and ores is well known [167-169]. In this stronger ammonium solution, Zn was released in a significant amount which, according to PHREEQC modelling, is also due to ammine complex formation.

The amounts of metal species released from ash 3 and four other filter ashes (1, 2, 4 and 5) in ammonium nitrate leaching were compared. Similar patterns were found with a high fractional release of Cu, but variations between ash samples were observed. The percentage of Cu released varied between 57% and 100% (Table 5.8 and Figure 5.12). Zinc is also expected to form soluble ammine complex ions and was in fact released from all ashes in significant amounts, but with different yields: from 24% to 79%. Another example is the leaching of Ca, which was lower from ash samples 4 and 5 than from the other ash samples. This is probably due to differences in incineration technique and flue gas cleaning methods used.

Table	5.8.	Amoun	ts of	selee	cted	meta	ls le	eached	from	i ashe	es 1	-5	using	3M	NH_4	NO
after 2	4 ho	ours of l	eachi	ng. A	ll re	esults	are	given	as %	relea	ised	of	total	amoi	ınt iı	n the
dry asl	ı (Pa	apers IV	and	V).					-							

Element	Ash 1	Ash 2	Ash 3	Ash 4	Ash 5	
Al	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Ca ¹	49	45	65	11	16	
Fe	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
K ¹	>100	>100	>100	>100	>100	
Mg	12	2	6	28	36	
Na ¹	90	46	68	>100	>100	
Si	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Cu	98	73	>100	81	57	
Mn	<1	<1	<1	1	0	
Pb	<1	<1	<1	<1	<1	
Zn	40	24	45	79	44	

¹Semi quantitative



Figure 5.12. Concentrations of major and minor components in leachates from ashes 1-5 after leaching for 24 hours using 3M NH_4NO_3 . All amounts are presented as mmol/L. Ca, K and Na are semi quantitative. No bar means that the measured concentration is <1 mmol/L.

An advantage of the more or less selective leaching of Cu when ammonium nitrate is used is the possibility to visually observe the effect of the leaching, as the complex formed has a characteristic blue colour. As seen in Figure 5.13, the samples in the middle and to the right correspond to ashes 1 and 3, which have the highest concentrations of Cu in the leachates (Figure 5.12). The use of ammonium nitrate as the leaching agent gives a possibility to selectively recover Cu from ash.



Figure 5.13. Leachates of ashes 1-5 (in duplicate) after leaching with 3M NH_4NO_3 for 24 hours.

Recovery of Cu from ash leachates

Copper can be recovered from ash leachates using solvent extraction to produce a solution from which Cu metal can be produced by electrolysis. In this thesis a method was developed for selectively recovering Cu leached from MSWI fly ash by either NH₄NO₃ or HNO₃. This section primarily discusses the solvent extraction experiments.

Ammonium nitrate leachates

As discussed earlier, the leaching of ash 3 using 3M NH₄NO₃ resulted in a high and rather selective release of Cu. This leachate was therefore used to study the possibilities to selectively extract Cu. Several extraction reagents were tested to find the best extractant for selective and efficient extraction of Cu from ash leachates, i.e. a extractant giving high D- and SF-values. Four chemically different extraction reagents (LIX 54-100, LIX 84, LIX 860N-I and Cyanex 272) were first tested on a solution containing Ca²⁺, Cu²⁺ and Zn²⁺ in 3M NH₄NO₃. This solution was prepared to simulate the real ash leachate obtained after leaching ash 3 with 3 M NH₄NO₃ (Figure 5.12). The extraction experiments were done at two different initial pH values, 2 and 8. The higher pH value was chosen based on the pH obtained after NH₄NO₃ leaching, whereas the lower was chosen to study extraction at acidic pH. The ratio between volumes of organic phases and water phases was 1 (O/A=1), and single step extractions were used in all experiments. All reagents showed a potential to effectively extract Cu from the solution, but the best results were obtained using LIX 84 and LIX 860N-I at the lower initial pH values (Table 5.9). These extractants are both oximes which, as discussed earlier, are known to be very selective for extraction of Cu at a low pH as well. The other two reagents (LIX 54 and Cyanex 272) are less selective and form weaker complexes with Cu, which can be seen from the D values at the lower pH_{eq} in Table 5.9. Similar results have been published by others [126, 130, 131, 170-172]. Calcium was generally not extracted (Paper IV) but some reagents extracted Zn in certain pH intervals (Table 5.9).

Table 5.9. Extraction of Cu and Zn from a simulated leachate using various extraction reagents with a concentration of 37.5 w/w % in the organic phase. Volume organic phase/volume water phase (O/A) =1 (Paper IV).

	pH of water phase before extraction	pH₀q, pH at equilibrium	D _{o/a}
Cu		<u> </u>	
LIX 54-100	8	4.2	155
LIX 84	8	7.5	247
LIX 860N-I	8	7.6	232
Cyanex 272	8	4.9	84
LIX 54-100	2.2	1.8	2
LIX 84	2.2	1.7	116
LIX 860N-I	2.2	1.8	168
Cyanex 272	3.6	1.4	<1
Zn			
LIX 54-100	8	4.2	14
LIX 84	8	7.5	<1
LIX 860N-I	8	7.6	79
Cyanex 272	8	4.9	132
LIX 54-100	2.2	1.8	<1
LIX 84	2.2	1.7	<1
LIX 860N-I	2.2	1.8	<1
Cyanex 272	3.6	1.4	101

As the oximes (LIX 84 and LIX860N-I) gave the highest D values and selective extraction of Cu compared to Zn at the lower pH, those reagents were tested on the real ash NH₄NO₃ leachates from ash 3. Both reagents gave satisfying extraction results with an initial pH of 2 (Figure 5.14). Aluminium, Ca, Co, Cr, Fe, K, Mn, Mo, Na, Ni, Pb, Sn, Si, V and Zn stayed in the water phases and all were detected in amounts <1mmol/kg in the organic phase. The pH_{eq} was 0.7 in both experiments, and the aldoxime based reagent LIX 860N-I gave a better distribution of Cu compared to the ketoxime based reagent LIX 84 (D_{LIX860N-I}=246 compared to D_{LIX84}=14). This was expected, as aldoximes also form stable complexes with Cu at pH<1 while ketoximes are generally most effective at pH>1.6 [116]. The relatively good extraction results obtained with LIX 84, despite the low pH, are probably due to the high concentration of reagent used compared to the amount of Cu present (about 10 times higher).



Figure 5.14. Amounts (mmol/kg) of selected elements in the original ammonium nitrate leachate from ash 3 and in the loaded organic phases (LIX 84 and LIX 860N-I, 17 w/w) after extraction. O/A=1 (Paper IV).

2M H_2SO_4 was used to strip Cu from the LIX 860N-I loaded organic phases. About 90% of the Cu was stripped in a single step. As LIX 860N-I forms such strong complexes with Cu, this fairly concentrated acid was needed in the stripping experiments. However, this is not practical in real processes [116, 119]. This suggests that LIX 84 could be a more convenient extraction reagent, as weaker acid solutions may be used in the final Cu recovery even though the separation, i.e. the D value, using LIX 84 was inferior in the extraction step.

The proposed extraction-stripping method using ammonium nitrate and LIX 860N-I was tested on four other ashes (1, 2, 4 and 5) with satisfying results. Various amounts of Cu and other metals were leached from the ash samples, but the extraction of Cu was selective irrespective of the initial concentrations (Figure 5.15). The stripping also showed satisfying results. More than 87% of the Cu was transferred from the organic phase to the acid in a single stripping step.



Figure 5.15. Amounts (mmol/kg) of selected elements in original ammonium nitrate leachates (ashes 1, 2, 4, and 5) and in the corresponding organic phases (LIX 860N-I, 17 w/w%) after extraction using O/A=1. The amounts of Ca, K and Na in the original leachates are semi quantitative (Paper IV).

Table 5.10 shows a summary of the copper recovery results obtained in the process based on extraction with 3M NH₄NO₃, extraction using LIX 860N-I, 17 weight% in Solvent 70 and stripping of the organic phase using 2M H₂SO₄. All volume ratios in the process steps were 1. A recovery of the leached amounts of about 90% was obtained but, according to eq. 3, a further number of extraction and stripping steps may lead to even higher recovery. The recovery of Cu compared to the total amounts in the original ashes is lower than 90% and varied between ash samples. This shows that the leaching is the most important step in a recovery process. It should be noted that it can be somewhat difficult to compare the recovery yields with the concentrations of Cu in the original ashes due to analytical uncertainties in determining low concentrations of metals in small sample volumes (generally 0.1-0.5 g of ash) [173].

Ash 1	Ash 2	Ash 3	Ash 4	Ash 5						
Recovered amount of total, %										
78	69	95	72	51						
Recovered amount of leached, %										
89	95	95	89	89						

Table 5.10. Summary of recovered amounts of Cu for ash samples 1-5 leached with 3M NH₄NO₃.

Acidic leachates

Leaching using NH₄NO₃ (pH ~9) released significant amounts of Cu from ash but selective extraction of Cu using the reagents tested here was only obtained at acidic pH. This means that the pH of the leachate must be adjusted before extraction, which consumes chemicals. It might therefore be more practical to leach the ash at an acidic pH near the pH used for extraction. In addition, the pH in the leachate is further decreased during extraction due to the hydrogen cycle on which extraction using oximes is based. The term "hydrogen cycle" refers to the release of H⁺ from the extractant during extraction and resumption of H⁺ during stripping. This is beneficial if the solution is to be recycled and used for further leaching. The results of acidic leaching (end pH 2.5-5) showed that the resulting leachates were more complex compared to the NH₄NO₃ leachates (Figures 5.15 and 5.16). However, selective extraction of Cu was obtained for ashes 1-5 after adjustment of the pH to 2.2 before extraction (Figure 5.16). Some tests were also done without pH adjustment before extraction. These results showed that similar amounts of Cu were extracted, which indicates that pH adjustment to such a low pH as 2 before extraction may not be critical for the recovery efficiency (Paper IV: Tables 7 and 8).



Figure 5.16. Amounts (mmol/kg) of selected elements in original leachates (ashes 1-5) using HNO3 and in the corresponding organic phases after extraction at an initial pH of 2.2. The amounts of Ca, Ka and Na are semi quantitative (Paper IV).

The stripping results were similar to the results of the NH_4NO_3 experiments, and the amounts of Cu recovered from the acidic leachates are given in Table 5.12. These amounts are comparable to the amounts recovered from the ammonium nitrate leachates (Tables 5.10 and 5.11). The amounts of Cu recovered compared to the total amounts of Cu in the ash samples are generally lower, as was also found in the ammonium nitrate experiments (Tables 5.10 and 5.11). This again points to the importance of the leaching process in obtaining an effective recovery of Cu from ash.

reaching and pri aujusted to 2.2 ± 0.1 before extraction (Paper IV).										
Ash 1	Ash 2	Ash 3	Ash 5							
Recovered amount of total, %										
89	89 40		105	52						
Recovered amount of leached, %										
93	93 96		91	90						

Table 5.11. Summary of amounts of Cu recovered in ash samples 1-5 after acid leaching and pH adjusted to 2.2 ± 0.1 before extraction (Paper IV).

In summary, the proposed leaching-extraction procedure is given as a flow sheet in Figure 5.17. It is important to note that the amounts of Cu in the leachate will vary

with the ash sample and leaching media used, which will of course influence the amount of metal ions in the pregnant electrolyte.



Figure 5.17. Flow sheet of the recovery method developed for Cu from ash.

A comparison of the costs for NH_4NO_3 and HNO_3 indicates that the acid is more than twice as expensive as the ammonium nitrate assuming that the "puriss" quality of the chemicals is used, $3M NH_4NO_3$ or $2.5M HNO_3$ and L/S=5. The leaching solution is to be recycled, however, as is done at commercial process plants for Cu recovery. Recycling of the leaching agents used in these tests has not been studied thoroughly, but initial tests show that Cu is also leached from ash with a reused NH_4NO_3 solution. The amount of Cu in the leachate was not measured, but the presence of Cu was visually identified through the characteristic blue colour of the ammine complex.

It is not possible this far to say which of the leaching agents is the better choice. However, in the longer perspective, acidic leaching may be the better choice as there is less need for pH adjustments of the leachates before extraction, which saves both time and chemicals. In addition, acidic solutions resulting from wet cleaning of flue gases might be used as a complement to stronger acid solutions in the leaching process. Such acidic water phases are also waste products that need to be neutralised before being disposed of. A utilisation option for such liquids would therefore save money. A disadvantage of acidic leaching is that a large part of the ash material is dissolved (about 60% of the weight or more) as the original ash structure is highly affected. In addition, the Cu free raffinate contains more metal ions compared to that produced in ammonium nitrate leaching, and these metal species must be taken care of in a safe way. On the other hand, the Cu free raffinate can be a source of further extraction of other metals such as Al, Mg or Zn.

Due to the high content of alkaline compounds in ash, large amounts of acid are needed to reach a sufficient low pH. Pre-washing of ash using water or slightly acidic water would decrease the amounts of acid needed for leaching by removing alkaline components. However, it was shown in the present work that pre-washing with water (L/S=50, 24 hours of leaching time) could lead to a lower release of Cu and other metals in the leaching step (Paper III: Table 5). As an example, the release of Cu using 3M NH₄NO₃ as the leaching agent decreased from a more or less complete leaching from the original ash to a release of 70% of the Cu when the ash was pre-washed with water. This is probably due to changes in the ash structure.

Changes in ash matrix during leaching and ash stability

During water leaching of the cyclone ashes (A-C), the amounts of Al metal, NaCl and CaSO₄ decreased, while the other major crystalline components remained almost unaffected by leaching (Paper I: Table 2). Leaching of metallic Al is suggested to be due to hydrolysis to Al(OH)₃ at high pH [74]. The release of NaCl is expected as it is highly soluble in water, whereas the solubility of CaSO₄ is much lower (0.2g/100g water) [164, 174]. However, CaSO₄ has been shown to react with aluminium oxides to form ettringite ((CaO)₃(Al₂O₃)(CaSO₄)₃·32H₂O), amorphous or crystalline, at alkaline pH in cements [175]. This may be a reason for the results of this study, but ettringite was not identified in the leached ash samples. In addition, the formation of CaSO₄·XH₂O cannot be totally ruled out.

Filter ash (ash 3) showed a similar behaviour when leached in water: release of water soluble salts such as NaCl and KCl as well as some of the Ca compounds such as CaClOH (Paper III: Table 3). When stronger leaching agents (NH₄NO₃ or HNO₃) were used, the crystalline structure was affected more and especially the release or transformation of most calcium-containing compounds should be noted (Table 5.12 and Figure 5.18). When ash 3 was leached with HNO₃ at pH<0, even more of the Ca containing compounds were released and oxides and silicates were instead identified. Thus large parts of the ash matrix are dissolved in acid leaching, which is not favourable if the ash is to be utilised. If the target pH in extraction is higher than 2, it seems to be the better choice to carry out the leaching at that pH, as the release of CaSO₄·XH₂O will be lower.

Table 5.12. Crystalline compounds identified in ash samples 1-5 after leaching for 24 hours at L/S=5 a) NH_4NO_3 leaching, b) HNO_3 leaching (end pH 2) and c) HNO_3 leaching (end pH<0) (Papers III and V).

Mineral	Ash 1		Ash 2		Ash 3			Ash 4		Ash 5	
	а	b	а	b*	а	b	С	а	b	а	b
CaCO ₃	Minor	Minor	Major		Major	Minor		Major	Trace	Minor	Minor
CaSO ₄	Major	Minor	Minor					Minor		Major	
CaSO ₄ ·XH ₂ O	Minor	Major	Trace		Minor	Major	Trace	Trace	Major	Minor	Major
Ca ₃ Al ₂ O ₆	Minor	Minor	Minor		Minor	Minor	Major	Trace	Minor	Trace	Minor
SiO ₂	Trace	Trace	Minor		Trace	Trace	Major	Trace	Minor	Trace	Minor
(Ca, Al, K) silicates							Major				

*Not analysed



Figure 5.18. XRD patterns for original (black), NH_4NO_3 leached (blue) and HNO_3 leached (green) ash 3. The diffractrograms for the original and NH_4NO_3 leached ashes are offset along the Y-axis. 1) Ca(OH)₂, 2) CaSO₄, 3) SiO₂, 4) CaClOH, 5) CaCO₃, 6) NaCl, 7) KCl, 8) Ca₃Al₂O₆ and 9) CaSO₄·XH₂O.

Changes in particle sizes can influence and explain variations in the leaching step. The particle size distributions in some of the acid leached filter ashes (3 and 5) (initial pH 2) were measured and are shown in Figures 5.19 and 5.20 (Paper V). In ash 3, the average particle size was moved towards larger particles (70% between 40 and 600 μ m; maximum around 250 μ m) (Figure 5.19). This distribution remained the same during ultra sonic treatment, indicating that those particles are rather stable. Acid leached ash 5 showed two main peaks with maxima at 35 μ m and 200 μ m (Figure 5.20). During ultra sonic treatment, the smaller particles remained rather unaffected while the maximum of the other peak was moved towards even larger particle sizes (maximum around 400 μ m). This indicates that the larger particles agglomerate during leaching, while the smaller particles are more stable.



Increasing particle size

Figure 5.19. Particle size distribution $(1-1000\mu m)$ for original and acid leached (HNO3, L/S=5, 24 hours, end pH 2) ash 3 printed in logarithmic scale. The maximum at the Y scale corresponds to about 5 volume% of the total ash amount used in each experiment. a) original, b) and c) original treated with US, 12kHz and 24kHz, d) acid leached ash, e) and f) acid leached ash with US, 12kHz and 24kHz



Increasing particle size

Figure 5.20. Particle size distribution $(1-1000\mu m)$ for original and acid leached (HNO3, L/S=5, 24 hours, end pH 2) ash 5 printed in logarithmic scale. The maximum at the Y scale corresponds to about 5 volume% of the total ash amount used in each experiment. a) original, b) and c) original treated with US, 12kHz and 24kHz, d) acid leached ash, e) and f) acid leached ash with US, 12kHz and 24kHz

The higher amount of larger particles in the cyclone ashes compared to the filter ashes was reflected in the specific surface area measurements (Table 5.13). Leaching increased the specific surface area, and the extent of this depended on the properties of leaching media used, i.e. how effectively it could release Ca and other ash matrix elements. Similar results are reported in the literature [70]. The authors made approximate calculations comparing the relative inner surface area and the outer surface area. Before washing with water, the inner surface area was about 10 times larger than the external surface [70]. After washing, the ratio between inner and outer surface areas had increased to 70. The contact with water clearly resulted in a
significant increase in porosity, probably by dissolving certain ash components and disintegrating particle aggregates.

Table 5.13. Specific surface areas of original and leached cyclone and filter ashes. The specific surface area is given in m^2/g . Cyclone ash B was leached 10 minutes, L/S=10 and filter ashes 3 and 5 were leached 24 hours, L/S=50 in water and L/S=5 in acid and NH₄NO₃ (Papers I, III and V).

Ash	Original	Water Leaching	End pH	Acidic leaching	End pH	NH₄NO₃ leaching	End pH	
А	1.2	-	-	-	-	-	-	
В	0.4	2.0	9	-	-	-	-	
С	0.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	
3	5.1	10.7	12	110 (HNO3); 20.4 (HCl)	2 (HNO3); <0 (HCl)	21.7	8	
5	3.1	-	-	26.2	2	14.2	8	
Fly ash	2.8- 36.9*	-	-	-	-	-	-	[176]
Fly ash	2.2; 5.6	-	-	-	-	-	-	[81]
Cyclone ash	0.7	3.7	-	-	-	-	-	[70]

-not measured

* literature review

During leaching, the specific surface area is also affected by a formation of secondary products, crystalline or amorphous, on the particle surfaces. This effect was observed for both kind of ashes (Figures 5.21 and 5.22). The qualitative energy dispersive X-ray (EDX) analysis results obtained for the acid leached ash residues from ash 3 (Figure 5.22 d) and ash 5 suggest that these products are mainly CaSO₄·XH₂O, and similar results have also been suggested by others [83]. However, when using a strong acid leaching solution resulting in pH<0, the ash residue showed clean and clearly etched particle surfaces (Figure 5.22 e). This is consistent with the XRD results in Table 5.13 that show lower amounts of calcium-containing compounds after the ash matrix was attacked by the strong acid solution. The acid affect leaching of metals in two ways: first, it can increase the amounts of soluble species released since more of the ash matrix is accessed by the leaching medium. Second, it can increase adsorption of the dissolved metal ions because more mineral surfaces are available.



Figure 5.21. SEM images (secondary electrons) of cyclone ash B. Magnification 300 times. The bar corresponds to $100\mu m$. a) original ash b) ground ash leached for 360 minutes in ultra pure water, L/S=10.



Figure 5.22. SEM images (secondary electrons) of original and leached (24 hours, L/S=5) filter ash 3. Magnification 5000 times. a) original ash a) b) ultra pure water c) 3M NH₄NO₃ d) HNO₃ (end pH 2) and e) 3M HCl (end pH<0)

Land fill leaching test for evaluation of ash stability

Various leaching tests are used to determine what kind of land fill in which an ash should be deposited in or whether it fulfils the demands for utilisation [9, 177]. The two step test using water as the leaching agent is described in the EN 12457 standard that is linked to the landfill directive [9, 178, 179]. The sample is first leached for 6 hours at L/S 2 followed by leaching for 18 hours at L/S 8. The results are given as amounts released at L/S=2 and as the accumulated release at L/S=10. When this test was used on three original filter ashes (2, 3 and 5) it was found that none of the ash samples gave results below the limit values for admittance to landfills that treat hazardous waste for all elements (Figures 5.23 and 5.24). The leaching of Cl⁻, Pb and Zn generally exceeded the limits most, whereas Ni and Se were leached in amounts below 1mg/kg dry ash in all ash samples.



Figure 5.23. Leaching from ashes 2, 3 and 5 using the EN 12457 test, L/S=2 in original ash, ash pre-leached with NH_4NO_3 and ash pre-leached with HNO_3 . The level refers to the allowed maximum amounts for a hazardous waste landfill. All amounts are present as mg/kg dry ash and no bar corresponds to an amount below 1 mg/kg dry ash. O=original ash, AMN= NH_4NO_3 , A= HNO_3 .



Figure 5.24. Leaching on an-ions (Cl⁻, F⁻, $SO_4^{2^-}$) and $NH_4^+_{tot}$ from ashes 2, 3 and 5 using the EN 12457 test, L/S=2 on original ash, ash pre-leached with NH_4NO_3 and ash pre-leached with HNO_3 . The level refers to the allowed maximum amounts for a hazardous waste landfill. All amounts are present as mg/kg dry ash and no bar corresponds to an amount below 1 mg/kg dry ash. $NH_4^+_{tot}$ was measured only in the leachates from ash 3 pre-leached with NH_4NO_3 . There is no level for NH_4^+ in the leaching test. O=original ash, AMN= NH_4NO_3 .

When the same ashes were pre-leached with NH_4NO_3 or HNO_3 for 24 hours, it was seen that the leaching in the two-step batch test generally decreased, especially from the ashes treated with NH_4NO_3 . These ashes gave results below the leaching limit for all metals studied except Ba, where the pre-treatment in some cases increased the leachability (Figure 5.23). On the other hand, pre-treatment of the ashes using acid leads to a decreased leaching of some metals, such as Cd and Pb, while increased leaching was in some cases found for Ba, Cu and Zn. Similar trends were also found for the accumulated L/S=10 leaching, where none of the ashes totally fulfilled the leaching of Cl⁻ from ash 3 pre-leached with NH_4NO_3 exceeded the limit for L/S=10, even though it fulfilled the limit at L/S=2, whereas the acid-leached ashes fulfilled the limits at both L/S ratios for all anions. The ashes were washed with a small amount of water after pre-leaching (L/S=0.4) to leach out species adsorbed to the surfaces during centrifugation and filtration. If this procedure had been repeated several times before the EN 12457 leaching test, it is possible that the release of Cl⁻ and other ions would fall below the limit.

These results indicate that some pre-treatment of the ashes is needed to make the ash comply with the limit values for landfilling, especially for the metals. Where leaching at high pH (NH_4NO_3) seems to generally decrease leaching of metal compounds, acidic pre-treatment in some cases increases leaching. This is probably due to a more general etching and destruction of the ash matrix in the acidic leaching. Thus, more metal compounds can be accessed by the water in the EN 12457 leaching test.

6. Conclusions

- MSWI fly ashes are heterogeneous materials, and the ash matrix plays an important role in how the ash will behave in various environments.
- The results obtained in the present work verified that minor and trace metal compounds are generally enriched on small particles in the fly ash. The results further suggest that minor elements such as As, Cd, Cu and Ni bind to available particles with a higher affinity for calcium and/or iron containing compounds in the ash matrix and that species of Cr, Pb, Ti and Zn mainly adsorb onto fly ash particle surfaces through a random process.
- The major compounds of Cu and Zn are not similar in the fly ash samples investigated. This was also reflected in the relative release of those metals from the ashes in different leaching media. The most probable speciation for Cu in the BFB fly ash (ash 3) is CuO and/or Cu(OH)₂, CuSO₄·H₂O and metallic Cu. Zn is present in this ash in oxidic minerals such as silicate and/or hydroxide in addition to chloride. The fly ash from MB combustion of MSW (ash 5) gave results that indicate that Cu occurs as CuSiO₃·H₂O and/or CuO in addition to metallic Cu. The same ash contained Zn bound in oxidic forms such as ZnO, Zn(OH)₂ and Zn-silicate, in addition to chloride. The absence of Zn-Zn distances in the data for ash 5 indicates that Zn replaced other ions in a variety of compounds.
- Leaching of metals involves a competition between several phenomena such as adsorption, precipitation, the presence of available anions and formation of soluble complexes. The amounts released depend on the unique parameters used in each leaching situation. In this work, this was observed as a significant dependence of leachate composition on pH, leaching time, L/S ratio, size reduction of the ash by grinding and dissolution of major ash compounds. The release of major ash compounds affects the porosity of ash as well as the formation of secondary compounds and agglomeration of ash

particles, which involves the formation of new surfaces and induces coprecipitation of metal ions.

- The results obtained in this work verified that the release of metal compounds from MSWI fly ash using water as the leaching agent is generally low. Enhanced leaching of metal compounds can be achieved using strong mineral acids in high concentrations or using complex forming ligands such as EDTA. However, those leaching methods are usually non-specific and result in the release of many metals. If a selective leaching is needed, a leaching agent forming stable complexes only with certain elements must be used, such as NH₄NO₃, which forms soluble complexes with Cu²⁺.
- Selective recovery of Cu²⁺ from MSWI filter ash after leaching using NH₄NO₃ or acid followed by extraction using solvent extraction reagents based on oximes, can be done. The best result was achieved using the LIX 860N-I reagent. The O/A ratio was equal to 1, and single steps were used in all experiments. About 90% of the Cu ions in the leachates could be selectively recovered. The leaching of the ash was identified as the limiting step, determining the yield of Cu. More work remains to optimize the proposed process for recovery of Cu from MSWI fly ash. Several parameters, such as the concentration of reagents and the O/A ratios, affect the overall result, and the influence of those parameters will be investigated in greater detail. However, the purpose of the present study was to investigate the possibilities for selective recovery of Cu from Various MSWI fly ash leachates, and the results are very promising.

The focus of this work was extraction of Cu from filter ashes, but the amounts of Cu are comparable in cyclone and bottom ash. It was found in the sequential extraction experiments that Cu was harder bound in cyclone ash than in filter ash. However, the first four steps in the sequential extraction procedure used here do not include leaching at low pH [89]. This indicates that leaching using strong solutions of mineral acids resulting in low pH may also be used to leach part of the Cu from those fractions. In bottom ashes, an oxidic mineral such as CuO has been suggested to be

the major compound, which indicates that significant leaching of Cu from MSWI bottom ashes is probably possible [180]. Approximate calculations assuming 1500 mg Cu/kg ash, of which 50% is released and recovered, and with an annual amount of ash of 900 000 tonnes, show that more than 500 tonnes of metallic Cu may be recovered annually from ash from waste incineration, in Sweden only. The corresponding annual amount of Cu in EU-27 would be nearly 20 000 tonnes. If the recovery efficiency could be increased to 80%, the corresponding figures would be 1000 tonnes and 30 000 tonnes of Cu recovered annually in Sweden and EU-27, respectively. The latter figure corresponds to about 0.5% of the annual amount of Cu used in Europe [181].

7. Continuation of the work

More work remains to optimise the proposed process for recovery of Cu from MSWI fly ash. The influence of several parameters, such as the leaching agent used and the concentration of reagents must be investigated in greater detail. In addition, the use of the weaker reagent LIX 84 instead of the strong LIX 860N-I should be explored, as the disadvantage of slightly less effective extraction may be compensated for by the need of less acid in the stripping step. When scaling up the process from the laboratory scale to the pilot plant scale it is also important to study the recycling of chemicals and the need for washing steps. Initial studies on recycling the ammonium nitrate solution and the extraction reagent when extracting Cu indicate that both kinds of reagents can be recycled at least two or three times. Precipitation in the raffinate and crud formation in the loaded and stripped organic phases were observed, indicating that washing steps are needed. Electrolysis of the loaded stripping solutions to achieve pure Cu metal is beyond the scope of this thesis and has therefore not yet been done. Thus, that part of a recovery scheme also needs to be optimised. As discussed earlier, recovery of Cu using solvent extraction coupled with electro winning is common practice in the mining industry and, even though ash leachates are quite different from leachates produced from normal Cu ores, much of this knowledge could be used when scaling up the process.

The leaching can be further optimised; for instance, a decreased L/S ratio would save chemicals and costs. Investigation of specific leaching agents is interesting, as this opens possibilities for the recovery of such metals as Pb or Zn for which less selective extraction reagents are available. However, initial experiments on extraction of Zn from Cu-free ash NH₄NO₃ raffinates using Cyanex 923 (a mixture of octyl and hexyl phosphine oxides) show that 90% of the Zn in the water phase was transferred to the organic phase using O/A=1 and single step extraction. Except for some extraction of Ca (1% of the amount in the Cu-free ash leachate), Zn was selectively extracted. More work has to be done on these issues in order to understand and develop the process in greater detail.

8. Acknowledgments

It has been many years since I started my chemistry studies here in Gothenburg. I never believed that I would become a PhD student and graduate as a doctor of philosophy. Nevertheless, I did, and these years have been very interesting and sufficiently valuable but sometimes also difficult and challenging. I have learned a great deal, not only about chemistry but also about myself and it feels fantastic to finally be able to summarise my work in this thesis. However, this would not have been possible without the help and support of many people.

First of all I would like to express my warmest acknowledgments to my main supervisor, associate professor Britt-Marie Steenari, who has always supported and encouraged me throughout the years. We have known each other since I did my diploma work in your group and you were the one who introduced me to the world of ash chemistry and research. Thank you so much, Britt-Marie!

Professor Christian Ekberg, associate supervisor, and Professor Gunnar Skarnemark are gratefully thanked for discussions and sharing valuable knowledge concerning solvent extraction.

Professor Oliver Lindqvist is gratefully acknowledged for giving me the opportunity to do my research at Environmental Inorganic Chemistry, Chalmers University of Technology.

The work included in this thesis was financially supported by the Swedish Energy Agency, FORMAS, the Graduate School Polytechnic Waste Research in Sweden - POWRES, the research foundation Adlerbertska Göteborg and Renova AB and are gratefully recognised.

My mentor, Christer Lundgren, Renova AB, supported and encouraged me throughout many discussions and helped me to understand the need and interest of ash research outside the academic world and is gratefully thanked for that. Many people have supported me in the laboratory work. I cannot name you all but you are remembered. However I do want to especially extend my gratitude Brita Ohlsson, who has worked with me a great deal. I am particularly grateful for your unique talent in find missing equipment and for knowing the chemistry building so well. ©

I also want to thank all my colleagues who have helped and supported me during these years. I am especially thankful to Rikard Ylmén, Pär Meiling and Ulf Jäglid, with whom I have had many discussions about research in general and about life in particular.

My friends, you are all very important to me and I am very grateful for your patience and understanding and for making me put my research into perspective.

Mum, dad, grandmother, Maria, Hans, Johan, Linnéa and Mats, I cannot say how much you mean to me and your support and encouragement have been amazing. Thank you!

Finally, to the best boys in the world; Erik, Alexander and William, I do not have to say it but this would not have been possible without you. You are always in my heart!



Karin Karlfeldt Fedje

9. References

- [1] Eurostat, *Key figures on Europe, 2009 edition.* 2009, Luxembourg, Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities.978-92-79-11056-6
- [2] W. Wiqvist and others, Svensk Avfallshantering 2009 (Swedish Waste Treatment 2009), The Swedish Association of Waste Management, Malmö, Sweden, 2009
- [3] SFS Miljödepartementet; Miljöbalk (Environmental Laws); 1998:808, updated to SFS 2007:661 Miljödepartementet
- [4] N.P. Cheremisinoff, *Handbook of solid waste management and waste minimization technologies*. 2003: Elsevier Science
- [5] The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development/ The World Bank, Municipal solid waste incineration, Washington, USA, 1999
- [6] J. Åström, Förbränning av avfall på Linköpings Värmeverk (Incineration of waste at Linköpings Power Plant), Sycon Energikonsult AB, 1999
- [7] O. Lindqvist. in *Proceedings to the 10th World Clean Air Congress* 1995. Espoo, Finland.
- [8] W. Kloek and K. Blumenthal, Eurostat, Statistics in focus 30/2009, Generation and treatment of waste, Eurostat, Luxembourg, ISSN 1977-0316, 2009
- [9] Rådets direktiv 1999/31/EG om deponering av avfall (Directive of the council 1999/31/EG about landfilling of waste); 1999; Europeiska gemenskapernas officiella tidning
- [10] T. Sabbas, A. Polettini, R. Pomi, T. Astrup, O. Hjelmar, P. Mostbauer, et al., Management of municipal solid waste incineration residues, *Waste Management*, 23.(2003) p. 61-88.
- [11] SFS Miljödepartementet; Avfallsförordning (2001:1063) (Waste Regulation (2001:1063)); 2001:1063, updated to 2009:1213; Miljödepartementet
- [12] The County Administration of Västra Götaland; Deponering av brännbart och organiskt avfall nytt förbud från årsskiftet 2005 (Land filling of combustible and organic waste- new prohibition from year 2005); 2004; The County Administration of Västra Götaland
- [13] D.O. Reimann, CEWEP Energy Report (Status 2001 2004) Results of Specific Data for Energy, Efficiency Rates and Coefficients, Plant Efficiency factors and NCV of 97 European W-t-E Plants and Determination of the Main Energy Results, C.-C.o.E.W.-t.-E. Plants, Brussels, Belgium, 2006
- [14] H. Rylander and others, Förbränning av avfall- Utsläpp av växthusgaser jämfört med annan avfallsbehandling och annan energiproduktion (Incineration of waste- Emissions of green house gases compared to alternative treatment methods of waste and alternative energy production), ISSN 1103-4092, 2003:12
- [15] Swedish Forest Agency, Virkesbalanser 1992, Meddelande 2-1993 (Wood balances 1992, Announcment 2-1993), Swedish Forest Agency, Stockholm, 1993
- [16] K. Jansson, Energy supply the 3rd quarter 2006 and 2007, Preliminary data, EN 20 SM 0704, Statistics Sweden and Swedish Energy Agency, 2007
- [17] Swedish Environmental Protection Agency, National inventory report, 2010

- [18] W. Wiqvist and others, Svensk Avfallshantering 2007 (Swedish Waste Treatment 2007), The Swedish association of waste management, Malmö, 2007
- [19] A.J. Chandler, T.T. Eighmy, J. Hartlén, O. Hjelmar, D.S. Kosson, S.E. Sawell, *et al.*, eds. *Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator Residues*. 1997, Elsevier: Amsterdam; New York
- [20] Metso Power AB. 2010.
- [21] Y. Zhang, Y. Chen, A. Meng, Q. Li, and H. Cheng, Experimental and thermodynamic investigation on transfer of cadmium influenced by sulphur and chlorine during municipal solid waste (MSW) incineration, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 153.(2008) p. 309-319.
- [22] Mojtahedi W., Backman R., and Larjava K., Fate of some trace elements in fluidised bed combustion and gasification processes, Report no. 42, Technical research Centre of Espoo, 1987
- [23] L.-S. Sun, S. Abanades, J. Lu, G. Flamant, and D. Gauthier, Volatilization of heavy metals during incineration of municipal solid waste, *Journal of Environmental Sciences (Beijing, China)*, **16**(4).(2004) p. 635-639.
- [24] K. Wikman, M. Berg, H. Bjurstöm, and A. Nordin, Termisk rening av askor Q4-128 (Thermal cleaning of ash), Stockholm, Sweden, 2003
- [25] I. Mkilaha, H. Yao, and I. Naruse, Thermodynamic analysis of the role of chlorine and sulfur environments during combustion and incineration processes, *Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management* **4**.(2002) p. 143-149.
- [26] D. Verhulst, A. Buekens, P.J. Spencer, and G. Eriksson, Thermodynamic Behaviour of Metal Chlorides and Sulphates under the Condition of Incineration Furnaces, *Environmental Science and Technology*, **30**(1).(1995) p. 50-56.
- [27] Haynes B.S., Neville M., Quann R.J., and Sarofim A.F., Factors Governing the Surface Enrichment of Fly Ash in Volatile Trace Species, *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, **87**(1).(1981).
- [28] Lee P.H., Delay I., Nasserzadeh V., Swithenbank J., McLeod C., Argent B.B., *et al.*, Characterization, Decontamination and Health Effects of Fly Ash from Waste Incinerators, *Environmental Progress*, **17**(4).(1998).
- [29] I. Bogdanovi, S. Fazini, S. Itskosb, M. Jak, E. Karydasa, V. Katselisa, et al., Trace element characterization of coal fly ash particles, Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research Section B: Beam Interactions with Materials and Atoms, 99.(1995) p. 402-405.
- [30] S. Mattigod, D. Rai, and J.E. Amonette. Concentrations and distribution of major and selected trace elements in size-density fractionated fly ashes. in Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements in Coal and Coal Combustion Byproducts, Proceedings of a Special Session on Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements in Coal and Coal Combustion Byproducts held during the 4th International Conference on the Biogeochemistry of Trace Elements. 1999. Berkeley, CA, United States.
- [31] A. Arditsoglou, C. Petaloti, E. Terzi, M. Sofoniou, and C. Samara, Size distribution of trace elements and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in fly ashes generated in Greek lignite-fired power plants, *Science of the total environment*, **323**.(2004) p. 153-167.

- [32] C. Liao, C. Wu, and Y. Yan, The characteristics of inorganic elements in ashes from a 1 MW CFB biomass gasification power generation plant, *Fuel processing technology*, **88**.(2005) p. 149-156.
- [33] M.C. Camerani-Pinzani, B. Golosio, A. Somogyi, A.S. Simionovici, B.-M. Steenari, and I. Panas, X-ray Fluorescence Tomography of Individual Municipal Solid Waste and Biomass Fly Ash Particles *Analytical Chemistry*, 76(6).(2004) p. 1586-1595.
- [34] E. Fujimori, R. Shiozawa, S. Iwata, K. Chiba, and H. Haraguchi, Multi element and morphological characterization of industrial waste incineration fly ash as studied by ICP-AES/ICP-MS and SEM-EDS, *Bulletin of chemical society in Japan*, **75**.(2002) p. 1205-1213.
- [35] A. Ramesh and J.A. Kozinski, Rearrangments in metals environment of inorganic particles during combustion and solidification, *Combustion and flame*, **125**.(2001) p. 920-930.
- [36] M.C. Camerani-Pinzani, A. Somogyi, A.S. Simionovici, S. Ansell, B.-M. Steenari, and O. Lindqvist, Direct determination of cadmium speciation in municipal solid waste fly ashes by synchrotron radiation induced micro-X-ray fluorescence and micro-X-ray absorption spectroscopy, *Environmental Science & Technology*, **36**.(2002) p. 3265-3269.
- [37] S. Abanades, g. Flamant, B. Gagnepain, and D. Gauthier, Fate of heavy metals during municipal soild waste incineration, *Waste management and research*, **20**.(2002) p. 55-68.
- [38] T. Lind, T. Valmari, E.I. Kauppinen, G. Sfiris, K. Nilsson, and W. Maenhaut, Volatilization of the Heavy Metals during Circulating Fluidized Bed Combustion of Forest Residue, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 33(3).(1999) p. 496-502.
- [39] M.C. Camerani-Pinzani, A. Somogyi, B. Vekemans, S. Ansell, A.S. Simionovici, B.-M. Steenari, *et al.*, Determination of the Cd-Bearing Phases in Municipal Solid Waste and Biomass Single Fly Ash Particles Using SR-mXRF Spectroscopy, *Analytical Chemistry*, **79**(17).(2007) p. 6496-6506.
- [40] X. Wan, W. Wang, R. Ye, Y. Guo, and X. Gao, A study on the chemical and mineralogical characterization of MSWI fly ash using a sequential extraction procedure, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **B 134**.(2006) p. 197-201.
- [41] H.-C. Yang, J.-S. Yun, M.-J. Kang, Y. Kang, and J.-H. Kim, Effectiveness and Mechanisms of High-Temperature Lead Capture by Various Aluminium-Silicate Minerals, *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering*, **19**.(2002) p. 1037-1042.
- [42] H.-C. Yang, J.-S. Yun, M.-J. Kang, J.-H. Kim, and Y. Kang, Capture of Volatile Hazardous Metals Using a Bed of Kaolinite, *Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering*, **16**.(1999) p. 646-653.
- [43] Tran K-Q., Steenari B-M., Iisa K., and Lindqvist O., Capture of potassium and cadmium by kaolin in oxidizing and reducing atmospheres, *Energy & Fuels*, **18**(6).(2004) p. 1870-1876.
- [44] K.-Q. Tran, K. Iisa, B.-M. Steenari, and O. Lindqvist, A kinetic study of gaseous alkali capture by kaolin in the fixed bed reactor equipped with an alkaline detector, *Fuel*, **84**.(2005) p. 169-175.
- [45] H. Yao, N. Saito, I.S.N. Mkilaha, and I. Naruse, Comparative study of lead and cadmium compounds capture by sorbents, *Journal of Chemical Engineering of Japan*, **35**(5).(2002) p. 401-408.

- [46] B.-M. Steenari and K. Norén. Application of synchrotron based X-ray spectroscopy for the speciation of Zn in ash from combustion of biomass and waste. in *The 14th International Conference on X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (XAFS14).* 2009. Camerino, Italy.
- [47] Steenari B-M. and Lindqvist O., High Temperature Reactions of Straw Ash and the Antisintering Additives Kaolin and Dolomite, *Biomass and Bioenergy*, (14).(1998) p. 67-76.
- [48] S.V. Vassilev, C. Braekman-Danheux, P. Laurent, T. Thieman, and A. Fontana, Behvaviour, capture and inertization of some trace elements during combustion of refuse-derived char from municipal solid waste, *Fuel*, 78.(1999) p. 1131-1145.
- [49] F. Claesson, E.W. Blomqvist, A. Johansson, B.J. Skrifars, and B.-Å. Andersson. ANNUAL VARIATION IN ELEMENTAL, DIOXIN AND PCB CONTENT WITHIN SWEDISH WASTE FUELS – RESULTS FROM TWO PLANTS. in *Twelfth International Waste Management and Landfill Symposium*. 2009. S. Margherita di Pula, Cagliari, Italy: CISA Publisher, Italy.
- [50] C. Wiles, Municipal solid waste combustion ash: State-of-the-knowledge, *Journal of Hazardous Materials* (1996) p. 325-344.
- [51] A. Jakob, S. Stucki, and P. Kuhn, Evaporation of heavy metals during the heat treatment of municipal solid wate incinerator fly ash, *Environmental Science & Technology*, **29**.(1995) p. 2429-2436.
- [52] N. Alba, E. Vázquez, S. Gassó, and J.M. Baldasano, Stabilization/solidification of MSW incineration residues from facilities with different air pollution control systems. Durability of matrices versus carbonation, *Waste management*, **21**.(2001) p. 313-323
- [53] S. Arickx, T.V. Gerven, and C. Vandecasteele, Accelerated carbonation for treatment of MSWI bottom ash, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, B137.(2006) p. 235-243.
- [54] T.V. Gerven, E.V. Keer, S. Arickx, M. Jaspers, G. Wauters, and C. Vandecasteele, Carbonation of MSWI-bottom ash to decrease heavy metal leaching, in view of recycling *Waste Management*, **25**.(2005) p. 291–300.
- [55] J.A. Meima and R.N.J. Comans, The leaching of trace elements from municipal solid waste incinerator bottom ash at different stages of weathering, *Applied Geochemistry*, **14**.(1999) p. 159-171.
- [56] H. Ecke, Sequestration of metals in carbonated municipal solid waste incineration (MSWI) fly ash, *Waste management*, **23**.(2003) p. 631-640.
- [57] M. Temmam, J. Paquette, and H. Vali, Mn and Zn incorporation into calcite as a function of chloride aqueous concentration, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, **64**.(2000) p. 2417-2430.
- [58] L.Z. Lakshtanov and S.L.S. Stipp, Experimental study of nickel(II) interaction with calcite: Adsorption and coprecipitation, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, **71**.(2007) p. 3686-3697.
- [59] S.L. Stipp, M.F.H. Jr., G.A. Parks, and J.O. Leckie, Cd2+ uptake by caicite, solid-state diffusion, and the formation of solid-solution: Interface processes observed with near-surface sensitive techniques (XI'S, LEED, and AES), *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, **56**.(1992) p. 1941-1954.

- [60] N. Wu, M.F.H. Jr., G.E. Brown, and G.A. Parks, Co(II) sorption at the calcite-water interface: I. X-ray photoelectron spectroscopic study, *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, **60**.(1996) p. 2801-2815.
- [61] W. Stumm, *Chemistry of the Solid-Water Interface*. 1992: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. New York.0-471-57672-7
- [62] Appelo C.A.J. and Postma D., *Geochemistry, groundwater and pollution*. 1996, London: Taylor & Francis Ltd.0415364280
- [63] C.-J. Lin and J.-E. Chang, EXAFS study of adsorbed Cu(II) on fly ashes with different residual carbon content, *Chemosphere*, **46**.(2002) p. 115-121.
- [64] S. Iretskaya, A. Nzihou, C. Zahraoui, and P. Sharrock, Metal leaching from MSWI fly ash before and after chemical and thermal treatments, *Environmental Progress*, **18**(2).(1999) p. 144-148.
- [65] Nzihou A. and Sharrock P., Calcium phosphate stabilization of fly ash with chloride extraction, *Waste management*, **22**(2).(2002) p. 235-239
- [66] Z. Youcai, S. Lijie, and L. Guojian, Chemical stabilization of MSW incinerator fly ashes, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **B 95**.(2002) p. 47-63.
- [67] M.C. Camerani, B.-M.Steenari, R. Sharma, and R. Beckett, Cd speciation in biomass fly ash particles after size separation by centrifugal SPLITT, *Fuel*.(2002) p. 1739-1753.
- [68] Z. Abbas, B.-Å. Andersson, and B.-M.Steenari. Leaching behaviour and possible resource recovery from air pollution control residues of fluidized bed combustion of municipal solid waste. in *The 15th international conference on fluidized bed combustion*. 1999. Savannah, Georgia.
- [69] van Herck P. and Vandecasteele C., Evaluation of the use of a sequential extraction procedure for the characterization and treatment of metal containing solid waste, *Waste management*, **21**.(2001) p. 685-694.
- [70] M. Wilewska-Bien, M. Lundberg, B.-M. Steenari, and H. Theliander, Treatment process for MSW combustion fly ash laboratory and pilot plant experiments, *Waste Management* **27**.(2007) p. 1213-1224.
- [71] K.-S. Wang, K.-Y. Chiang, K.-L. Lin, and C.-J. Sun, Effects of a waterextraction process on heavy metal behaviour in municipal solid waste incinerator fly ash, *Hydrometallurgy*, **62**.(2001) p. 73-81.
- [72] Hlavay J., Polyák K., Bódog I., and Csók Z., Importance and Determination of Chemical Species in Solid Samples, *Microchemical Journal* 51.(1995) p. 53-63.
- [73] Mizutani S., Yoshida T., Sakai S-I., and Takatsuki H., Release of metals from MSW in fly ash and availability in alkali condition, *Waste management*, 16(5/6).(1996) p. 537-544.
- [74] Z. Abbas, B.-M. Steenari, and O. Lindqvist, A study of Cr(VI) in ashes from fluidized bed combustion of municipal solid waste: leaching, secondary reactions and the applicability of some speciation methods, *Waste management*, 21(8).(2001) p. 725-739.
- [75] H.A.v.d. Sloot, P.A.J.P. Cnubben, and H. Scharff. Predominantly inorganic eqilibrium disposal: part of the total concept sustainable recycling and storage of solid waste. in *Seventh waste management and landfill symposium*. 1999. S. Margherita di Pula, Italy.
- [76] Van Herck P., Van der Bruggen B., Vogels G., and Vandecasteele C., Application of computer modelling to predict the leaching behaviour of

heavy metals from MSWI fly ash and comparison with a sequential extraction method, *Waste management*, **20**.(2000) p. 203-210.

- [77] H.A. van der Sloot, D.S. Kosson, and O. Hjelmas, Characteristics, treatment and utilization of residues from municipal solid waste incineration, *Waste Management* **21**.(2001) p. 753-765.
- [78] C. Brunori, S. Balzamo, and R. Morabito, Comparison between different leaching/extraction tests for the evaluation of metal release from fly ash, *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, **75**.(1999) p. 19-31.
- [79] F. Ariese, K. Swart, R. Morabito, C. Brunori, S. Balzamo, J. Slobodnik, et al., Leaching studies of inorganic and organic compounds from fly ash, *International Journal of Environmental Analytical Chemistry*, 82.(2001) p. 751-770.
- [80] F. Liu, J. Liu, Q. Yu, Y. Jin, and Y. Nie, Leaching Characteristics of Heavy Metals in Municipal Solid Waste Incinerator Fly Ash *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A,* **40**(10).(2005) p. 1975 - 1985
- [81] K.J. Hong, S. Tokunaga, Y. Ishigami, and T. Kajiuchi, Extraction of heavy metals from MSW incinerator fly ash using saponins, *Chemosphere*, 41.(2000) p. 345-352.
- [82] H.-Y. Wu and Y.-P. Ting, Metal extraction from municipal solid waste (MSW) incinerator fly ash- Chemical leaching and fungal bioleaching, *Enzyme and microbial technology*, **38**.(2006) p. 839-847.
- [83] F.-S. Zhang and H. Itoh, Extraction of metals from municipal solid waste incinerator fly ash by hydrothermal process, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, B 136.(2006) p. 663-670.
- [84] H.A. Elliott and G.A. Brown, Comparative evaluation of NTA and EDTA for extractive decontamination of Pb-polluted soils, *Water, air, and soil pollution*, **45**.(1989) p. 361-369.
- [85] T. van Gerven, H. Cooreman, K. Imbrechts, K. Hindrix, and C. Vandecasteele, Extraction of heavy metals from municipal solid waste incinerator (MSWI) bottom ash with organic solutions, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 140.(2007) p. 376-381.
- [86] S. Olsson, J.W.J.v. Schaik, J.P. Gustafsson, D.B. Kleja, and P.A.W. canHees, Copper(II) binding to dissolved organic matter fractions in municipal solid waste incinerator bottom ash leachate, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 41(12).(2007) p. 4286-4291.
- [87] C.D. Ferreira, P. Jensen, L. Ottosen, and A. Ribeiro, Preliminary treatment of MSW fly ash as a way of improving electrodialytic remediation, *Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part A*, 43.(2008) p. 837-843.
- [88] J.-D. Chou, M.-Y. Wey, and S.-H. Chang, Evaluation of the distribution patterns of Pb, Cu and Cd from MSWI fly ash during thermal treatment by sequential extraction procedure, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 162.(2009) p. 1000-1006.
- [89] A. Tessier, P.G.C. Campbell, and M. Bisson, Sequential Extraction Procedure for the Speciation of Particulate Trace Metals, *ANALYTICAL CHEMISTRY*, 51(7).(1979) p. 844-851.
- [90] Kirby C. S. and Rimstidt J. D., Mineralogy and surface properties of municipal solid waste ash, *Environmental science of technology*, **27**.(1993) p. 652-660.

- [91] Hsiao M.C., Wang P.H., and Yang Y.W., EXAFS and XANES studies of copper in a solidified fly ash, *Environmental Science and Technology*, 35(12).(2001) p. 2532-2535.
- [92] Wei Y-L., Lee Y-C., Yang Y-W., and Lee J-F., Molecular study of concentrated copper pollutant with a compost, *Chemosphere*, **57**.(2004) p. 1201-1205.
- [93] Camerani-Pinzani M. C., Cadmium Distribution and Speciation by Synchrotron Radiation Induced X-Ray Microprobe Techniques, in Department of Environmental Chemistry. 2003, Chalmers University of Technology: Gothenburg.
- [94] J. Usero, M. Gamero, J. Morillo, and I. Gracia, Comparative study of three sequential extraction procedures for metals in marine sediments, *Environment International*, **24**(4).(1998) p. 487-496.
- [95] J.L. Gomez Ariza, I. Giraledez, D. Sanchez-Rodas, and E. Morales, Selectivity assessment of a sequential extraction procedure for metal mobility characterization using model phases, *Talanta*, **52**.(2000) p. 545-554.
- [96] Sutherland R.A. and Tack F.M.G., Fractionation of Cu, Pb and Zn in certified reference soil SRM 2710 and SRM 2711 using the optimized BCR sequential extraction procedure, *Advances in Environmental Research*, **8**.(2003) p. 37-50.
- [97] Y.J. Tuan, H.P. Wang, J.-E. Chang, C.-C. Chao, and C.-K. Tsai, Speciation of copper in the thermally stabilized ash, *Nuclear instruments and methods in physical research A*.(2010 (article in press)).
- [98] S. Tian, M. Yu, W. Wang, Q. Wang, and Z. Wu, Investigating the speciation of copper in secondary fly ash by X-ray absorption spectroscopy, *Environmental Science & Technology*, **43**.(2009) p. 9084-9088.
- [99] M.C. Hsiao, H.P. Wang, J.-E. Chang, and C.Y. Peng, Tracking of copper species in incineration fly ashes, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, B138.(2006) p. 539-542.
- [100] B.-M. Steenari and K. Norén, Speciation of Zinc in ash An investigation using X-ray absorption spectroscopy, S. VÄRMEFORSK Service AB, 2008
- [101] M. Yu, S. Tian, W. Chu, D. Chen, Q. Wang, and Z. Wu, Speciation of zinc in secondary fly ashes of municipal solid waste at high temperatures, *Journal of synchrotron radiation*, **16**.(2009) p. 528-532.
- [102] Lind B., Larsson L., Gustafsson J-P., Ohlsson S-Å., Norrman J., Arvidsson O., et al., Energiaska som vägbyggnadsmaterial- utlakning och miljöbelastning från en provväg, Linköping, 2005
- [103] E. Kärrman, D.V. Moeffaert, H. Bjurström, M. Berg, and B. Svedberg, Förutsättningar för att askor kommer till användning i vägar (Prerequisites for an effective use of ashes in road construction), Stockholm, Sweden, 2004
- [104] D. Ferreira, A. Ribeiro, and L. Ottosen, Possible applications for municipal solid waste fly ash, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **B96**.(2003) p. 201-216.
- [105] J. Mácsik, C. Maurice, A. Mossakowska, and C. Eklund, Pilotförsök med flygaskastabiliserat avloppsslam (FSA) som tätskikt, Q4-237, Stockholm, Sweden, 2005
- [106] Environmental Protection Agency; Återvinning av avfall i anläggningsarbeten, Handbok (Recycling of waste in constructions, Handbook) 2010; Stockholm, Sweden

- [107] S. Schlumberger, M. Schuster, S. Ringmann, and R. Koralewska, Recovery of high purity zinc from filter ash produced during the thermal treatment of waste and inerting of residual materials, *Waste management and research*, 25.(2007) p. 547-555.
- [108] G. Ledergerber, Environment- Technology for the sake of the environment, Swiss Federal Office for the Environment, 2008
- [109] M. Cox, Recovery of values from combustion ashes 4.11, in *Combustion residues Current, Novel, and Renewable Applications* M. Cox, H. Nugteren, and M. Janssen-Jukovicova, Editors. 2008, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: New Jersey.
- [110] R.H. Matjie, J.R. Bunt, and J.H.P.v. Heerden, Extraction of alumina from coal fly ash genereated from a selected low rank bituminois South African coal, *Mineral Engineering*, **18**.(2005) p. 299-310.
- [111] C.-H. Jung and M. Osako, Water extraction with CO2 bubbling as pretreatment of melting-furnace fly ash for metal recovery, *Journal of Material Cycles and Waste Management*, **11**.(2009) p. 65-72.
- [112] W.G. Davenport, Copper production, in *Encyclopedia of materials; science and technology*, K.H.J. Buschow, Editor. 2001, Elsevier: New York, USA.
- [113] G.A. Kordosky, *Copper solvent extraction reagents, past, present and future,* in *World Mining Exhibition Expomin 2000.* 2000: Concepcion, Chile.
- [114] G.A. Kordosky, Copper solvent extraction: The state of art, *Journal of Mining*, 44 (5).(1992) p. 40-45.
- [115] G.A. Kordosky. Copper recovery using leach/solvent extraction/electrowinning technology: forty years of innovation, 2.2 million tonnes of copper annually. in *International Solvent Extraction Conference*, *ISEC* 2002. Johannesburg, South Africa: Chris van Rensburg Publications (Pty) Ltd.
- [116] MCT Redbook, Solvent Extraction Reagents and Applications. 2007: Mining chemicals technology, Cognis Group
- [117] A. Owais, Effect of electrolyte characteristics on electrowinning of copper powder, *Journal of applied electrochemistry*, **39**.(2009) p. 1587-1595.
- [118] J. Jackson, D. Phelps, and A. Morenci, Solvent extraction transfer of Cu from leach solution to electrolyte, in *Extractive metallurgy of copper, 4th edition*. 2002, Pergamon title: New York, USA. p. 307-325.
- [119] C.R. Merigold. Copper extractants- Modified and unmodified oximes, a comparision. in *MID*, *CNNMIEC- Yunnan Company*, *BGRIMM Annual Technicla Seminar*. 1996. Kunming, China.
- [120] K.A. Dudley, A.S.Moroney, and M.O. Braaksma. Copper solvent extraction oxime selectivity: Operational experience at Girilamborn Copper Company. in *Copper 99- Cobre 99 International Conference*. 1999. Phenix, USA: The Minerals, Metals and Materials Society.
- [121] A.G. Smith, P.A. Tasker, and D.J. White, The structures of phenolic oximes and their complexes, *Coordination chemistry reviews*, **241**.(2003) p. 61-85.
- [122] R.S. Forgan, D.K. Henderson, F.E. Mcallister, P.A. Tasker, F.J. White, J. Campbell, *et al.*, Copper extractant strength: the effect of substituents in the 3-position on hydroxyoxime performance, *Canadian metallurgical quarterly*, 47.(2008) p. 293-300.
- [123] R. Ylmén and I. Panas, Stability of Cu-oxime complexes. 2010: Göteborg.

- [124] M.B. Bogacki, Physicochemical modification of copper extractants. A review, Solvent extraction and ion exchange, 15(5).(1997) p. 731-755.
- [125] G.A. Kordosky, M.J. Virnig, and P. Mattison. Beta-deketone copper extractants: structure and stability. in *International Solvent Extraction Conference, ISEC* 2002. Johannesburg, South Africa: Chris van Rensburg Publications (Pty) Ltd.
- [126] M.J. Zapatero, M.P. Elizalde, and J.M. Sasteresana, Acid-bas equilibria and metal extraction properties of 1-phenyl-1,3-decanedione, *Analytical Science*, 7.(1991) p. 935-940.
- [127] P.A. Tasker, P.G. Plieger, and L.-C. West, Metal complexes for hydrometallurgy and extraction, in *Comprehensive coordination chemistry II*, J.A. McCleverty and T.J. Meyer, Editors. 2004, Elsevier Ltd.: Oxford, UK.
- [128] A.M. Sastre, N. Miralles, and E. Figuerola, Extraction of divalent metals with bis(2,4,4-trimethylpentyl) phosphinic acid, *Solvent extraction and ion exchange*, **8**.(1990) p. 597-614.
- [129] Cyanex 272 extractant. 2008: Cytec industries inc.
- [130] J.E. Silva, A.P. Paiva, D. Soares, A. Labrincha, and F. Castro, Solvent extraction applied to the recovery of heavy metals from galvanic sludge, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **B120**.(2005) p. 113-118.
- [131] A. Agrawal, M.K. Manoj, S. Kumari, D. Bagchi, V. Kumar, and B.D. Pandey, Extractive separation of copper and nickel from copper bleed stream by solvent extraction route, *Mineral Engineering*, 21.(2008) p. 1126-1130.
- [132] G. Kordosky, M. Virnig, and M. Mackenzie, *Solvent extraction- reagents and selectivity control*, Cognis Group: Tuscon, USA.
- [133] Karlfeldt K., *Characterisation and Speciation of Metals in Ash*, in *Chemical and Biological Engineering*. 2006, Chalmers University of Technology: Gothenburg.
- [134] D.L. Parkhurst and C.A.J. Appelo, USER'S GUIDE TO PHREEQC (VERSION 2)— A COMPUTER PROGRAM FOR SPECIATION, BATCH-REACTION, ONE-DIMENSIONAL TRANSPORT, AND INVERSE GEOCHEMICAL CALCULATIONS U.G.S.W.-R.I.R. 99-4259, Denver, USA, 1999
- [135] P.R. Griffiths and James A. de Haseth, *Fourier transform infrared spectrometry*. 2007, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- [136] Z. Abbas, A. Moghaddam, and B.-M. Steenari, Release of salts from municipal solid waste combustion residues, *Waste Management*, 23(4).(2003) p. 291-305.
- [137] F.-Y. Chang and M.-Y. Wey, Comparison of the characteristics of bottom and fly ashes generated from various incineration processes, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **B138**.(2006) p. 594-603.
- [138] B.-M. Steenari and D. Zhao, Vattentvätt av flygaska från avfallsförbränning, Borås, Sweden, 2010
- [139] J.G. Stark and H.G. Wallace, Chemistry data book- 2nd edition in SI, 1997, John Murray Ltd, 50 Albemarle Street, London, UK
- [140] S. Andersson, E. Borg, M. Karlsson, K. Lind, S. Lindberg, and L. Seiler, *Avlägsnande av salter från avfallsaska med vattentvätt. (Removal of salts from MSWI ash by water washing)*, in *Chemical and Biological Engineering* 2009, Chalmers University of Technology.

- [141] K.-S. Wang, C.-J. Sun, and S.-S. Yeh, The thermotreatment of MSW incinerator fly ash for use as an aggregate: a study of the characteristics of size-fractioning, *Resources, conservation and recycling*, 35.(2002) p. 177-190.
- [142] S. Gilardoni, P. Fermo, F. Cariati, V. Gianelle, D. Pitea, E. Collina, *et al.*, MSWI fly ash particle analysis by scanning electron microscopy-energy dispersive x-ray spectroscopy, *Environmental Science & Technology*, 38.(2004) p. 6669-6675.
- [143] D.A. Spears and M.R. Martinez-Tarrazona, Trace elements in combustion residues from a UK power station, *Fuel*, **83**(2265-2270).(2004).
- [144] M.R. Martinez-Tarazona and D.A. Spears, The fate of trace elements and bulk minerals in pulverized coal combustion in a power station, *Fuel Processing Technology*, **47**.(1996) p. 79-92.
- [145] C. Liao, C. Wu, and Y. Yan, The characteristics of inorganic elements in ashes from a 1 MW CFB biomass gasification power generation plant, *Fuel processing technology*, **88**.(2007) p. 149-156.
- [146] S. Thipse, M. Schooenitz, and E. Dreizin, Morphology and composition of the fly ash particles produced in incineration of municipal solid waste, *Fuel processing technology*, **75**.(2002) p. 173-184.
- [147] E. Cereda, G.B. Marcazzan, M. Pedretti, G. Grime, and A. Baldacci, Occurrence mode of major and trace elements in individual fly-ash particles, *Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research B*, **104**.(1995) p. 625-629.
- [148] R. Giere, L. Carleton, and G. Lumpkin, Micro- and nanochemistry of fly ash from a coal-fired power plant, *American Mineralogist*, 88.(2003) p. 1853-1865.
- [149] W.S. Seames and J.O.L. Wendt, Regimes of association of arsenic and selenium during pulverized coal combustion *Proceedings of the combustion institute*, **31**(2).(2007) p. 2839-2846.
- [150] S.-J. Huang, C.-Y. Chang, Do Trong Mui, F.-C. Chang, M.-Y. Lee, and C.-F. Wang, Sequential extraction for evaluation the leaching behavior of selected elements in municipal solid wate incineration fly ash, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 149.(2007) p. 180-188.
- [151] Scheckel K. G., Impellitteri C. A., Ryan J. A., and McEvoy T., Assessment of a Sequential Extraction Procedure for Perturbed Lead-Contaminated Samples with and without Phosphorus Amendments, *Environmental science of technology*, 37(9).(2003) p. 1892-1898.
- [152] J.L. Gomez Ariza, I. Giraledez, D. Sanchez-Rodas, and E. Morales, Comparison of the feasibility of three extraction procedures for trace metal partitioning in sediments from south-west Spain *The Science of The Total Environment* 246.(2000) p. 271-283.
- [153] L. Fraser and K.R. Lum, Availability of Elements of Environmental Importance in Incinerated Sludge Ash, *Environmental Science and Technology*, **17**.(1983) p. 52-54.
- [154] Polyák K. and Hlavay J., Chemical fractionation of a fly ash sample by a sequential leaching method, *Fresenius J Anal Chem*, **371**.(2001) p. 838-842.
- [155] V. Bruder-Hubscher, F. Lagarde, M.J.F. Leroy, C. Coughanowr, and F. Enguehard, Application of a sequential extraction procedure to study the

release of elements from municipal solid waste incineration bottom ash, *Analytical Chimica Acta*, **451**.(2002) p. 285-295.

- [156] Howard J.L. and Shu J., Sequential extraction analysis of heavy metals using a chelating agent (NTA) to counteract resorption, *Environmental Pollutition*, **91**(1).(1996) p. 89-96.
- [157] Howard J.L. and Vadenbrink W.J., Sequential extraction analysis of heavy metals in sediments of variable composition using nitrolotriacetic acid to counteract resorption, *Environmental Pollutition*, **106**.(1999) p. 285-292.
- [158] Y. Kalmykova, A.-M. Strömvall, and B.-M. Steenari, Alternative materials for removal of heavy metals and petroleum hydrocarbons from contaminated leachates, *Environmental Technology* **29**.(2008) p. 111-122.
- [159] Gupta G. and Torres N., Use of fly ash in reducing toxicity of and heavy metals in wastewater effluent, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **57**.(1998) p. 243-248.
- [160] Héquet V., Ricou P., Leucuyer I., and Le Cloirec P., Removal of Cu2+ and Zn in aqueous solutions by sorption onto mixed fly ash, *Fuel*.(2001) p. 851-856.
- [161] M. Aguiar del Toro, W. Calmano, and H. Ecke, Wet extraction of heavy metals and chloride from MSWI and straw combustion fly ashes, *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **29**.(2009) p. 2494-2499.
- [162] van der Sloot H.A., Kosson D.S., and Hjelmas O., Characteristics, treatment and utilization of residues from municipal solid waste incineration, *Waste management*, **21**.(2001) p. 753-765.
- [163] D. Guyonnet, F. Bodéanan, G. Brons-Laot, A. Brunol, L. Chateau, M. Crest, *et al.*, Multiple-scale dynamic leaching of municipal solid waste incineration ash, *Waste management*, **28**.(2008) p. 1963-1976.
- [164] D.R. Lide, CRC Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 88th Edition (Internet Version), 2008 CRC Press/Taylor and Francis, Boca Raton, FL
- [165] I.B. Bodek, ed. *Environmental inorganic chemistry*. *Properties, processes and estimation methods*. 1988, Pergamon Press.
- [166] G.D. Christian, Analytical Chemistry, 5th edition. 1994: John Wiley & Sons.0-471-59761-9
- [167] K.C. Nathsarma and P.V.R.B. Sarma, Processing of ammoniacal solutions containing copper, nickel and cobalt for metal separation, *Hydrometallurgy*, 33.(1993) p. 197-210.
- [168] M. Pueyo, J.F. Lopez-Sanchez, and G. Rauret, Assessment of CaCl₂, NaNO₃ and NH₄NO₃ extraction procedures for the study of Cd, Cu, Pb and Zn extractability in contaminated soils, *Analytica Chimica Acta*, **504**.(2004) p. 217-226.
- [169] A. Lebourg, T. Sterckeman, H. Ciesielski, and N. Proix, Trace metal speciation in three unbuffered salt solutions used to assess their bioavailability in soil, *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 27.(1998) p. 584-590.
- [170] J.C. Mermejo, M. Alonso, A.M. Sastre, and F.J. Alguacil, Solvent extraction of Cu(II) by LIX 54-100 and its application to a solid supported liquid membrane system, *Journal of chemical research*.(2000) p. 479-481.
- [171] B.R. Reddy, K.H. Park, and D. Mohaptra, Process development for the separation and recovery of copper from sulphate leach liqours of synthetic

Cu-Ni-Co-Fe matte using LIX 84 and LIX 973N, *Hydrometallurgy*, **87**.(2007) p. 51-57.

- [172] V. Kumar, D. Bagchi, and B.D. Pandey, Separation of copper and zinc from complex sulphate solutions by using LIX84, *Scandinavian Journal of Metallurgy*, 26.(1997) p. 74-78.
- [173] ASTM-International; ASTM D3682 01(2006) Standard Test Method for Major and Minor Elements in Combustion Residues from Coal Utilization Processes; West Conshohocken, USA
- [174] C.E. Calmanovici, N. Gabas, and C. Lagubrie, Solubility Measurements for Calcium Sulfate Dihydrate in Acid Solutions at 20,50, and 70 "C, *Journal of Chemical Engineering Data*, **38**.(1993) p. 534-536.
- [175] Taylor H.F.W., Cement Chemistry, 2nd edition. 1997, London: Academic Press.0-12-683900-X
- [176] T.L. Theis and K.H. Gardner, Environmental assessment of ash disposal, *CRC Critical reviews in Environmental Control*, **20**.(1990) p. 21-42.
- [177] Naturvårdsverket, Återvinning av avfall i anläggningsarbeten Handbok, Stockholm, Sweden, 2010
- [178] Rådets beslut om kriterier och förfaranden för mottagning av avfall vid avfallsdeponier (Decision of the council about criteria and operations for recieving waste at landfillings for waste); 2002; European Union
- [179] prEN 12457, Characterisation of waste-leaching-compliance test for leaching of granular waste material; Determination of the leaching constituents from granular waste materials and sludge; 1996; Brussels, Belgium
- [180] S. Olsson, J.P. Gustafsson, D.B. Kleja, D. Bendz, and I. Persson, Metal leaching from MSWI bottom ash as affected by salt or dissolved organic matter, *Waste Management*, **29**.(2009) p. 506-512.
- [181] International Copper Study Group, The world copper factbook, Lisbon, Portugal, 2009